1L

II1.
IV.

VIL

Regular City Council Meeting
October 9, 2023
Agenda

7:30 p.m. Call to Order
Pledge of Allegiance
Roll Call
Approval of Minutes: September 25, 2023
Approval of Bills
Approval of Agenda
Consent Agenda
1. Resignation of Judy Keeling from Housing Commission

Capital Flag Presentation for 150 Anniversary
Public Comment
Discussion - Downtown

Fire Chief Report
Police Chief Report

Audit Presentation — Plante Moran

Unfinished Business

New Business
1. Purchase of John Deere Gator with Plow
2. Sanitary Sewer Evaluation

Budget

Public Comment
Manager’s Report
Council Comments
Adjournment

*Please see reverse side for rules of conduct for public comment at City Council meetings*



Rules of Coricuct for Public Comment at Cotincil Meetings*

Menibers of the publio may speak’at 2 Comnéil meoting upox recognition by the Mayor.
Public comment may only oeeur duritig ‘periods’ designated on the agenda for public
comment or & piiblic hearing; A person may speak for up to two (2) minutes during each
of the two public comment pariods on agend itets or non-agéads Hems, Walvers ofthe
time requiremént may only bo grauted in the disorstion of the Mayor, and waivers to spesk
at atime otherthan a designated comment pericd inay only be granted by the Coutoit, Any
person wishing fo make & presentation longer than two minutes or requiring sudio-visnal .

equipment s asked to contact the City Cleik réquesting to sppear on e flityre agonds. -

A i:erson may onlji_a&dmss Couneil from the podivm, Ouly .me.per;soﬁ may o@up}f ihe.
podium gt & time, All remarks are to be directed to the Mayor and Conneil. Speakers are-

not to engage in direot dialog with other meeting attendees. -

Any persoriwho violates the Rules of Conduct, distutbs the peace at the meeting, and/or
Interferes with the mesting may be warned, ordered to be seated, removed, and/or tioketed.

*This summatizes Connefl Resolwion 04-18. Complete Rules, fncluding guidelines for'
. congsidering waivers, are available in the Contol Chantbers aud from the City Clerk.



City of South Lyon
Regular City Council Meeting
September 25, 2023

Mayor Pelchat called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m.

Mayor Pelchat led those present in the Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call: Mayor Pelchat, Councilmembers: Dilg, Kivell, Kurtzweil, Hansen, and Kennedy

Also present: City Manager Zelenak, Fire Chief Thorington, Police Chief Baaki, Finance and Benefit
Administrator Tiernan, DDA Director Mack, and Deputy Clerk Pieper

Absent: Councilmember Mosier

CM 9-1-23 MOTION TO EXCUSE ABSENCE
Motion by Kennedy, supported by Kurtzweil
Motion to excuse absence of Councilmember Mos
VOTE: MOTION CARRIED

MINUTES- 9/11/23 / >
Councilmember Kivell stated the words to get back 1 needs to be added to%:
CM 9-2-23 MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES AS Al{ENDEI

Motion by Kennedy, supported; i “

%%?

o
.

scouncil comments

Motion to approve the minutes Py

VOTE: MOTION BARK}

BILLS- None

AGENDA .
CM 9-3-23 MOTION

//// K
_

fiing Board of App@ s
Viildwn Trick or TI/‘/;Z
.

G

3. Ladies N

gg%%
CM 9-4-23 MOTION{; (), A PRO;;,_L’_/_/;THE CONSENT AGENDA AS PRESENTED

Motion by Kur%ﬁ su' ed by Dilg

Motion to approveent agenda as presented
OTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

VOTE:

PROCLAMATION- South Iyon Hotel

*See attached proclamation®

Larry Ledbetter ther gave a presentation of pictures. He stated it was built in 1867 and after completion it
was named the Commercial House. There were 2 hotels in South Lyon and because of the railroad,
passengers from the train would stay in town. He then stated the two hotels were rivals when a train
would come through, and they heard the whistle, they got into their horse and buggies, and raced to the
train and upon arrival, they would persuade the passengers to stay the night at their hotel and it was
exciting for the residents of South Lyon. The Commercial House whose name was changed to the
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Whipple House for a short time and eventually became the South Lyon Hotel. The hotel was rumored to
be haunted based on the fact it was built on an old cemetery and the bodies had to be removed for the
construction. In addition, a fire occurred in 1977 and it took the life of one of its residents. There were
13 that survived thanks to the efforts of Tony Solomon. He was banging on the doors getting people out,
and the man that passed was Omar Duncan who went back in to get something. Another example of you
never go back into a burning building. Some of the haunting rumors were probably intended to intimidate
the younger employees. He then stated Paul Baker came to town in 1988 and he purchased the South
Lyon Hotel, and anyone that knew him would say he was a very interesting man and he had a great
foresight of things that would happen. He changed things a lot. The 12 rooms upstairs along with the
community bathrooms were removed, and the upstairs was converted fo a banquet hall. Several years
later, it became a general dining room with a bar. After the massiv off f it was determined the structure

/ o new buildillg Because of the

il W i /have gotten good at getting
usiness strategy, but / f’f)a it is, being a team that
¢ are only as strong as t&people we brought up
/ 1 / And everyone
1ld w1th0ut everyoné%ﬁmmg out to
rvices without pay, we had drywallers
,}a cil for their support. He then stated

. //
'rs and the city has always been

with us. We try our best to have a good team, and the
knows when it burned down, we woul.

great to help them move alo.x
everyone here. Chris Baler ¢ //
said South Lyon prid o

ik 64 4 5%5 :..
mform%//ﬁ’/ bout 0 1\//1 % // %ﬁheﬂ thanke "‘ Councﬂ for taking the time to discuss this and
conmder%@n She state ///
ge. She sta

eg/; overd] a is to get the word out about our pollinators being in danger

and to have é 2 versation ab % W t0 h% //hem It has a small but positive impact and our biggest
impact is havmg%’?conversatlon st <7v May is working in Ann Arbor, Royal Oak, Ferndale,
East Lansing and ,////y more loca ies w1th no negative effects. She stated she would like one word
changed in the Ordinagce, from /y//;to June, That would be enough to let her and any other citizen
/'ted or fined, and its time to help our pollinators, and baby bunnies,

{ﬁt from the extra time. She then said some cities are suspending their
lawn ordma.nces until June 15 / he is worried that suspending the lawn ordinance wouldn’t be long
standing like actuaily changing the ordinance, but the most important thing to do is to make a positive
change here and now. The worst thing that could come of this is nothing. We have learned so much
since it was written in the 1980’s, we know now that our pollinators are in trouble, and she thinks we can
all agree on that. We can do something that would stop our pollinators from hurting that we need to live
the life we live today. She then said she wants to participate in this positive initiative without fear of
being charged with a municipal civil infraction.

Ryan Cottingim of 601 S Lafayette also thanked Councilmember Dilg for all her working and bringing
this before Council. He stated he agrees with everything Erin said, and changing the Ordinance is the best
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way to guarantee this initiative can be practiced in the city without repercussion. It’s just one month and
it will guarantee those that want to participate are allowed to do so on the propetrty that they own, and pay
taxes on in our city. To add natural beauty to our town, and lessen noise population and landscaping and
carbon emissions from landscaping equipment for our families and neighbors to bring awareness to others
that our pollinators are in danger, and to lead by example showing how one small act of not mowing our
grass for an extra month can help so much with this. This is not negligence, it’s the exact opposite, it is a
purposeful act to help all of us and to help pollinators that supply our food. He said he doesn’t want short
tidy grass; he wants to do everything he can to protect our food and food supply for our kids. He then
said that is what is important to him, not what anyone ¢lse thinks about his lawn or how his property
looks. He further stated it is property he pays taxes on and he should be able participate in this if he
wants to. Changing the ordinance is the best way because policies e easily changed or dropped.
Planting perennial gardens are a great idea, but it’s expensive y/ / Kes a while to achieve and not
everyone has the ability to do that. He then said limiting to the rds or certain areas still restricts
g / | spread awareness to let people

“d awarenesv getting conversations and
1e best way to ke/%éﬁ ¢ initiative alive.

/ W
Susan Dreffs of 412 Washington Street stated she wa ‘f‘i hke a text amendment % % i
Ordinance, Chapter 34 article 4 changed to age restrlcl./ @6 4 ’

ng Commission

Judy Keeling of 62180 Arlington Circl Ll o ' , ihance to stay the sameo younger
handicapped or less financial people can ';' e 1

i '/ b//ﬁ Iso all ! 1d
iof 67 er, Uit also allow younger or older
. //}}///

Jean Dendel of 321 Haga% /
great, and

veryone know that the street is coming along
p the street, but also the day after the huge

storm, she 5 //éfﬁﬁ/ /}X/@ os//{(between the workers and the people coming
out to :a" trees, and t/l% fne was cordial, no one was honking their horns.

She stateff% & does have 2 1{ ‘
the black p1 %: s that is goin -’é,;" :
the ditch then

t:reet She stated people are wondering what the purpose of
] }ecause it isn’t being connected to anything. It’s laying in
15 going over 1/ he doesn

/ § /(mderstand how something can drain. She further stated it
not only affect pe ﬁ%? /on the streetgé d students, but several of the workers have complained that there
b kids an // i

are people picking upi 1ying down the street. She thinks its pretty bad when the Workers
complain about that. S
problem.

Leslie Conatser of 418 Washington Street stated she would like a text amendment Housing Commission
Ordinance, Chapter 34 article 4 changed to age restriction 62.

DISCUSSION- Downtown

DDA Director Mack stated they had a ribbon cutting for Jodea Bella on Friday. They have been at their
new location in town for a few months, but were now able to get the ribbon cutting done and he was
happy to assist them. He then stated the Social District is now open which is fantastic. He stated they
had a little ribbon cutting there at 5:00 which took place in the Farmers Market parking lot. He then
stated DPW did some work back there to spruce it up and it looks really nice and he is grateful for their
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assistance, especially with all the work they’ve been doing since the storm. He then stated the DDA
Board approved a contract for the Christmas lights downtown for this winter and they expect the work to
begin late October. He asked for a quote for extension cords to replace the white ones.

Councilmember Hansen stated he is happy the Social District is now open and it is creating a stir on
social media as well as news articles. He then asked about an Indian Restaurant coming to town. Mr.
Mack stated they just submitted documents for their site plan, so they are waiting to hear back if they
have been approved, but he can say the owner has another restaurant in Novi.

Councilmember Dilg stated the arca for the Social District looked gr}af, and it was fun to be there, but she
the DPW for doing that. She
dis quite a few people outside in different
7 excited about it. She further stated
//, ' e/%//%sked about the people working

areas having drinks and spoke with several people and they
it may take a while for people to get it, but it was a good stdj; |
on the roof on the corner of Lake and Lafayette Street. S, Mack state ,/@

diday night and individuals
| moving into F4}so you may not see as
many people. It seems like a more spring or summer atiivi: zsuie more ofig % he then
congratulated him on all his hard work hgput into it and the éof ity is noticing w //éﬁ’ is a good thing.

She then stated she ran into someone fiéi § & g111s word got out that we were opening it
up this weekend and maybe they wanted ¥ i

Social Districts that may come to look at o @? o %}T// ¢ how their district is to ours.

FIRE CHIEF REPORT // //////%4//

Chief Thorington Jkﬁ Y are at*-g%% stances ///}//t//// . U _

successfully completed h ¢ and he com /;d firefighter in the past so he is now a full-fledged
I Ty 3 years to assess the department. They look

7
firefighter. We had ISO i % eek ﬁ ch comes lﬂ%
‘ i A L agreements, our policies and procedures for

at our dispatehzesiit
7 - .
% n a /,// months, We currently at a 3 and our target is

our fire em )
4 ,@Police server, 5o now we have a backup for our

.
to stay

7
ol

17,

LBy
Chief Baaki con% tlated Corry e hotel. He then stated about 15 years ago he was working
midnights and he sa é@}me activity 1f the Hotel. He checked it out and it was ghost hunters and they
were filming trying to ﬁ@g}os ; e was tempted to dress up like a ghost and run through there, but
chose not to. He then stat?ﬂ%%/}/f ”}{oe should be on the road mid-October. He then stated he heard a lot
of good comments about the /%/éal District, and reminded everyone about the Lake Street Cruise in and
Pumpkinfest but the boundaries for the Social District do not change. Even though the footprint of the

events may be bigger, the boundaries remain the same.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

1. Hagadorn paving project- addition of Warren Street
City Manager Zelenak stated as part of our efforts to make further improvements to roads within the City
of South Lyon and as the first project associated with our Road Bond project, we have solicited bids and
awarded the Hagadorn paving and sewer project to DiPonio Contracting. The original bid was
$3,874,858.79. We recently increased the project cost due to changes in the reconstruction method for

9/25/2023




Bast, West and North Crest Lanes and Orchard Ridge from half-width mill and overlay to full depth
reconstruction. Now we are proposing to add Warren Street to the project and pave from West Lake
Street all the way to McHattie Park, including the paving of McHattie Park parking lot. Based upon this
change in estimated quantities, it will increase the cost of the project approximately $264,000.
Councilmember Kennedy asked if this will extend the time frame for completion. Mr. Darga of HRC
stated it will not. Councilmember Kennedy then asked if he has a response to the black tubes that was
mentioned by a resident during public comment. Mr. Darga stated that is the edge drain, it goes closer to
the intersection near the curbs and we extended it up to the ditch line. It will help to drain the ditches
quicker. It is connected to the storm system. Councilmember Kivell asked about the funding source for
the parking lot and what is the cost. City Manager Zelenak stated the funding is from the Parks and
Recreation fund, so it does come out of the general fund. He then st%/// ;the cost is $77,899.67

CM 9-5-23 MOTION TO APPROVE CHANGE IN THE SCOP // 7#PROJECT

ROLL CALL VOTE:

Kivell- Y/

/ 7
7

NEW BUSINESS y /
; ion co

1. EV charging 1
City Manager Zelenak st/ | city sta? 1ave been

company to provide turnke 4';.;./ i /he Genera'///f’ tors Community Charging Program. The

initiative e olf 5_ en1 st { // Y charging locations in their communities. Local
"i Bt ﬁr //é@” “%@
e 15516

with Charge EV, an Oakland County based

dealersh1 ors and will dispatch State Electric Company
to ms / /‘ he charger ibon completion. Equipment procurement and
materla.ls/ )/e preparatlon gv/,

coordmated’b@?harge EV. St @
any issues that‘%/ ﬁa};qse decreas;

lectrlc any will also maintain the equipment and troubleshoot
'=-.the amot {1 of tlme the chargers are not in use. There have been 5
gton), McHattie Park near the freight house (300 Dorothy),

McHattie Park parkmg/{%/ (502 ¢
Nells Street parking lot. Councilmember Kivell stated there is a push

Whipple Street parkmg L / y
right now in US and Europ@. / 1A
to ransition to those standards“once they are in place. Mr. Mack stated they will be able to be updated.
Councilmember Kivell stated being essentially designed for the GM platform, he understands there are
adapters. Mr. Mack stated there is a push to have all the charger plugs the same, the only difference is
Tesla. Councilmember Kennedy stated the paperwork talks about advertising on the units and he asked if
it is a video screen or some kind of static advertising. Mr. Mack stated there will not be a video playing,
it will be the logo of the dealership. He further stated the city has a wide latitude of what is allowed to be
advertised on the charging stations. If they want to do some sott of advertisement, the city would have to
approve it first. Councilmember Hansen asked about the commencement date in the contract. The
contract states they have 150 days to bring the charger online, is there any wiggle room on that. Mir. Mack
stated we don’t push them because there is a lot of work that has to be done, such as calling Miss Dig, and
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getting all the infrastructure in place. Councilmember Hansen then asked about the locations, his opinion
is the Wells Street parking lot and by McHattie Park seem like the most logical places, and we could
advertise for our events. Councilmember Kivell stated having 5 locations will spread the word more. Do
we designate the parking places to be used or do they? Mr. Mack stated it will be the city and the
company. City Manager Zelenak stated we came up with the locations, but they will have to work with
our utility company regarding pole placement so that may designate the parking places.
CM 9-6-23 MOTION TO APPROVE CONTRACT

Motion by Hansen, supported by Kurtzweil

Motion to approve the EV charging contract with Charge EV for electric vehicle charging stations

in the City of South Lyon
ROLL CALL VOTE:

Kivell- Yes

2. No Mow May discussion .
City Manager Zelenak stated for severa)//'élfh - // iscussions and re%%{%},ed information
on No Mow May. The packet includes tAbarti ¢ ect listing the pros and the cons of the

possibility of initiation of this in South Lygh. 116 the Diion
create a policy, or we can look at additional/ bt n /}}/anci]mem
to do would be to change the,ordinance to Jung i er//%* ptions we could be doing. Do
"/ 5 - ange the length in the ordinance.

other co( ne . / 18. / mber Kivell stated there are a lot
1 ‘ ut trying to come up with something

H/é/Z derstands the idea of helping the pollinators, but
{ggfrea‘t care of your lawn, and the idea of having a

Ty .,I}/t’()/(? ¢ir yard, seems Jike an intrusion on them. He

Jilg stated she thinks the best thing

She brought this up tof] jich
o'f generic things we ca(;//(/ o N
right now, you can find en: g/gs storiei i
Jour hom 44‘7’/9/%
neighbor Jeiinis ‘ , s and Sec 4
v A
furtherg% he likes a‘//of stat " :
way to ed /}to it and see 1%//%2 hback. He stated he has a lot of pollinators in his yard, and

he likes the i@; but he is conc ﬁd aboult %Zt homeowner associations are likely to end up doing. He

if you have beey
.

G
A HET

is
o, o % . . .
then stated there) 2 lot of room /) ore diséliésion. He then stated he has been pushing for using our
7 v B . . .
parkland for that, ¥ Esn’t have o?,‘; into residential areas, but although you can, as long as it doesn’t go

into your neighbor’s{/: ., With t arks we have, we can have much more impact on making sure there

are enough viable places{/,;,/ 4 s to be nourished. He doesn’t think that has to be an expensive
cvent. Councilmember Halise ed he can see both arguments, but he does appreciate this conversation

has started. Some of his ideas€ having folks register and gauging what kind of interest there is and
maybe having the city supply them with a sign so they know what they are showcasing. Reflecting why
their yards are larger, or maybe even donating to a fund for using the city park. It may be something to
consider next year to see what kind of interest it generates. He further stated until we can gauge the
public, and all the other communities trying it out. Councilmember Kurtzweil stated she is glad this
discussion is being held. She has been involved in this for almost 15 years and she is happy people are
gotting interested. She stated she sees both sides of the argument. She said she has a lot of knowledge on
this. She plants these types of gardens. The argument for No May is about pollinators. We need to
understand the facts, We have ground bees and they dig holes in the ground, but the average bee doesn’t
fly around in the grass. You aren’t helping to pollinate. When you have grass and it is grown, and you
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cut the grass in June, you will be mowing the nest and the yellow bees coming out of the ground, which is
anegative impact. Additionally, bees are interesting and when they find a place for food, they tend to
continue to come back each year. If you encourage bees to come back to your yard, and you now destroy
that habitat they have to find a different location to go. That is an argument for a temporary solution to
provide bees for a certain habitat. She further stated if you help nature, help them survive, not only in
May. There is no evidence to support that. The pollinator issue is solved by long term management of
providing pollinator gardens. It isn’t that expensive. She has one in her yard and one at the church. If
you say you don’t want to cut your grass in May to help the pollinators, you’re on the wrong path. She
further stated you have to follow the research and science. She further stated if you’re doing No Mow
May, and you let your grass grow, sometimes animals will nest there. Such as rabbits. She stated she had
a friend that went to cut her grass in June, and there were things cor/fn/' out of the mower, and she hita
rabbit’s nest and they were gone. She further stated you have to U :r/stand even though you'’re providing
a place for nature to nest in a taller grass environment, what

/ | ing is when you come back to the

. ' .
advantages, and one of the issues was carbon seque : .,/ of capturing carbon and
storing it. When you allow your grass to grow, it / o 3

make more nutrients into the soil. She further stated s // [ /When your grass

is 7 inches tall, and then you cut it to 3 W cpalhs owing that the 4 ¢chies of grass have

resulting in any carbon sequestration d ;,. ]
c slate '°;,;-, / /// Very year Wlth drought resistant

grass seed, which requires less watermg S ' %f serve water, you can use the

drought resistant grass see j August and September. She

furthir stated we can buj) {/%% :

. %// )
gives plants away every month, a
careful about the plants™y |

S

Tont v ens Councilmember Dllg stated she likes the
ideas of the garde o) G{/ aintenance of the gardens, would we allow
people {0 Bt d / . {/r’g d it would be a wonderful project for Eagle
Scoutsz ¢ & all ro llmg f“ d try to entice people to be a participant. He further
stated he 00 e with Parks d they seem to be on board with it, it is a good starting point,
and they dld/ %ave any mlsgl- abou %&?Councﬂmember Kurtzweil stated we have to appland
people that rec ok 7 that we hav % 1 issue V\flﬁl things that keep us alive. City Manager Zelenak stated
he will bring thls b t a future ing for a discussion with things that were brought up tonight.
Further discussion W/i 'e the future meetings and the additional information that will be
discussed.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Jean Dendel of 321 Hagadorn stated she loves the idea of the gardens, but she isn’t keen on not mowing
the grass. She is highly allergic to bees, but if someone is willing to help the community and help plant
flowers that will beautify the community, it is a wonderful idea. So many people are afraid of not adding
the right plants.

MANAGER’S REPORT
9/25/2023




City Manager Zelenak stated Plante Moran will be at the next meeting to present the audit and we will
also have the mutual agreement with South Lyon Schools for the Senior Center., He then stated the
contractor is continuing to work on repairs at the DPW building and they are trying to get the building
closed up before the snow comes. All of the repairs are being handled by MMRMA, our insurance
company. He then stated we went out for bid for crack sealing a few weeks ago and we didn’t receive
any bids so we are reaching out to the companies that were going to bid, to see if we change itto a
multiyear contract will encourage them to bid the job. They have started the sanitary sewer project near
the railroad tracks, so far, they have done tree removal, minor excavation, and building the bore pits. He
then stated the Housing Commission met a few weeks ago, and discussed the proposed redevelopment of
the property on Washington and procedures for approval It looks as though it W111 st1ll go through as a

i Wrgg/é many that were messed up and
they look terrific. They did a wonderful job and thank/ i »to Vthe contrae@s Councilmember Kurtzweil
h

.. ) .
stated that is important because as we move into the/ i - season that n the number one thing
{ . learned from COVID

discussed besides fixing the roads. Everyone is h

is to get outside and get healthy and having good si . gks is 1mportant There ozbeneficial things that
happen when you get out and walk. She may ask to havg /// bk oney bem {{ﬁe t. City Manager
Zelenak stated he has spoken with Jeff they talked ab g it for future ye to/and it was an

excellent program and the professional ¢ ea

o ﬁ% ntractor d1 “n '*’ will continue the program, not only
Jjust for sidewalks damaged by city trees

% have a wa le town, and we will continue to try

b,

to make some big leaps with this. Councﬂn%’ ber iy yeil aske f,ut the manholes covers that are in
pfegplsecz ir;zegwat}lfls Wha‘r/'s// {rocess tllf oD /@cracﬁ(i ///X/e/r/// lve%gye/&ty MarcllagerbZelenidk s:iated
v ecr//.o’l/f/ver e ,//wr //// . € if it needs to be replaced or
removed. Councrlrne rKenn ed @s ed for an @/d / what ﬁs//f%lng place on S Lafayette where
there are steel grates acr ; f’the road ._ d n: /{ dewalk on the east side of S Lafayette. City
Manager Zelenak stated tha / work bei /e one they are doing some additional boring in

that area. %

% ..
/’/r//'// ///; /%i; " * ey d Commission, but we may have done some
0 o ut111t1 ouner]m ,Kr ﬁ stated he loves the idea of the sidewalk

Miss Dlg ¢ ’r{ 0

/ SBhysly impSHD
prograny he would 1 to ﬁn / :ally impo éﬁjﬁthmg to start doing the tree supplement so we can
remove tr / idey ks and puttmg in less intrusive trees and not ruin all of our

Stuff He

that were planted % W/ ately u the storms we started to d1seuss a tree replacement program and we
will be doing that foré//,// al year / /éause we had so much damage within so many areas of the city, we
still need to identify wh 0 be taken down. The work is ongoing and the staff have worked

over 1,000 hours on just tr t% ; ris removal.
A 4

COUNCIL COMMENTS

Councilmember Kivell stated he’d like to expose the often bad and dangerous driving over by Bartlett
that’s putting a lot of other drivers, pedestrians and children walking home in jeopardy. The road
construction has made it worse than normal, but the only acceptable solution is to take a deep breath and
do your part to make sure nobody gets hurt. Please be focused on driving with reasonable gaps between
you and the other cars and smile. It’s harder to ram into someone if you’re smiling, unless maybe you
drive in demolition derbies.
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Councilmember Kennedy reminded everyone that this Wednesday will be the last Lake Street Cruise-in
for this season and that it will begin at 4:30pm rather than 6:30pm. So, make plans to come downtown
and see some great cars and enjoy a dinner at one of the restaurants downtown. He then stated the Salem-
South Lyon District Library will again be offering notary services tomorrow evening. Brad Heist from
Comerica Bank will be available from 6pm until 7pm. No appointment is necessary, just bring a photo id
and do not sign your documents before arrival. He then stated Larry Ledbetter asked him to pass along a
message that the South Lyon Area Historical Society is collecting items to be included in the new time
capsule. The items should be non-perishable, no liquids, looking for photographs, letters and other such
items of interest. You can drop off the items at the Witch’s Hat Museum or you can call 248.437.9929 to
make arrangements for someone to pick them up. The deadline is October 15% to make a contribution.
He then reminded everyone that Pumpkinfest is this weekend, with the Pumpkinfest Parade on Saturday
starting at !0am. There will be lots of activities and entertamment for the entire family so make plans

now to be downtown this weekend. You won’t want to mlss/ 1

Councilmember Kurtzweil stated South Lyon is a gre e to be and %fy’}n has been packed with people
every weekend this month with some great events/ her stated Pum / %est is this weekend and it
is a great event. She then thanked all the md1v1dual . d volunteers that keep 'é// events going. She then
stated the weather is going to be great and she hopes@%eﬂe stayg,in downtown@}) weekend.

- N

Councilmember Hansen stated he is ex;j%yo have the E% al " S on the agenda and/hie was surprised
by the locations, and some people may 1 / /e them, but be getting put on the maps when the
service is offered for shoppers, travelers a@ € mu.led to see e then thanked the City Manager

and Nate for all their work and he will be thé:: V'Vlt//f/l/ﬁ%amlly ////////

)

.
/ /é% 7
Councilmember Dilg .ﬁ‘é ‘i%%’ olunteers WOl . // 44/; /P mp‘kmfest committee will begin to
i Y e
meet next month for e ialyear and are SO many; . le that ar ﬁf@‘lng so much work to make this
happen. She then gave a (o %H the work they will be doing for the Election
.

scason.

\\\\\\\\

0 1://5{/ /%h%%her with respect.

Mayor Dan Pelchat Deputy Clerk Judy Pieper

9/25/2023
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September 2023 Payroli Report

Department Total Pay

Administration S 43,092.76
Cemetery S 5,468.00
Police S 125,756.52
Fire S 43,498.59
D.P.W. ) 64,252.36
Water & Wastewater S 52,931.37
Total Wages S 334,999.60

*Please note 2 pay periods in the month of September 2023



AGENDA NOTE

Consent Agenda: Item # d_

MEETING DATE: October 9, 2023
PERSON PLACING ITEM ON AGENDA: City Manager
AGENDA TOPIC: Resignation of Judy Keeling from Housing Commission

EXPLANATION OF TOPIC: We have received a letter from Judy Keeling resigning
from Housing Commission. '

MATERIALS ATTACHED AS SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: Letier received
September 25, 2023 from Judy Keeling stating she is resigning from the Housing
Commission

POSSIBLE COURSES OF ACTION: Accept the resignation of Judy Keeling from the
Housing Commission

SUGGESTED MOTION: Motion by supported by to
accept the resignation of Judy Keeling from the Housing Commission.




Mayor Daniel L. Pelchat
City of South Lyon

335 S. Warren Street E @ E “ W E
South Lyon, Ml 48178
SEp 25 2023

CITY OF SOUTH LYON

September 25, 2023

Mrs. Judy E. Keeling
South Lyon, M| 481781
Dear Mayor,

I need to let you know that [ am not going to be able to serve on the Housing Commission.

| don't feel that | am qualified to do a knowable job on this South Lyon Housing Commission. | do not want to make
a mistake for the City and the people of South Lyon.

I will not leave the Commision until they find a replacement for me.
Thank you for letting me have a chance to serve on the Commission.
Sincerely,

C W
K rd

dy E. Keeling



AGENDA NOTE

New Business: j_
MEETING DATE: October 9, 2023

PERSON PLACING ITEM ON AGENDA: Ronald Beason, Water/Sewer Department
Superintendent

AGENDA TOPIC: Purchase of John Deere Gator (Model XUV835M) with plow

EXPLANATION OF TOPIC: South Lyon Water/Wastewater Department is requesting to
purchase a new John Deere Gator with snowplow. This will be replacing the current 2003 John
Deere Gator. This UTV is essential to department operations, it is used daily for maintenance,
samplings & grounds keeping. This is a budgeted item for the current fiscal year. This purchase
will be made under the equipment replacement line 642-979.910. This item is available through
MIDEAL as itemized on the quote.

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: Attachment 1: Quote
Attachment 2: Image of the Gator

POSSIBLE COURSES OF ACTION: Approve/Not approve purchase of John Deere Gator
w/snowplow (Model XUV835M) through MIDEAL at the cost not to exceed $36,281.70.

SUGGESTED MOTION:

1. Motion by , supported by to approve the
purchase of a John Deere Gator (Model XUV835M) with plow at the delivered cost of
$36,281.70 under account number 642-979.910.

Date of meeting:10/9/23



JOHN DEERE

ALL PURCHASE ORDERS MUST BE MADE OUT
TO (VENDOR):

Deere & Company

2000 John Deere Run

Cary, NC 27513

FED ID: 36-2382580

UEID: FNSWEDARMKS3

ALL PURCHASE ORDERS MUST BE SENT
TO DELIVERING DEALER:

Hutson, Inc.

20801 Pontiac Trail

South Lyon, MI 48178

248-437-2091
southlyon@hutsoninc.com

Prepared For:

Quote Summary

Delivering Dealer:

CITY OF SOUTH LYON WATER DEPARTMENT

23500 N DIXBORO RD
SOUTH LYON, Ml 48178
Business: 248-437-1735

Hutson, Inc.

David White

20801 Pontiac Trail
South Lyon, MI 48178
Phone: 248-437-2091

dwhite@hutsoninc.com

Quote ID:
Created On:

29361241

04 August 2023

Last Modified On: 27 September 2023

Expiration Date:

11 October 2023

Equipment Summary Suggested List Sellihg Price Qty Extended

JOHN DEERE GATOR™ XUV835M $ 33,765.96 $30,051.70 X 1 = $ 30,051.70

HVAC (Model Year 2023) -

1M0835MDLPM062255

Contract: MI Ag, Grounds, and Roadside 071B7700085 (PG 3W CG 22)

Price Effective Date: November 4, 2022

BOSS 6'6" V-PLOW COMPLETE $6,230.00 $6,230.00 X 1 = $6,230.00

WITH SNOW DEFLECTOR

Contract:

Price Effective Date:

Equipment Total $ 36,281.70

* Includes Fees and Non-contract items Quote Summary
Equipment Total $ 36,281.70
Trade In
SubTotal $ 36,281.70
Est. Service $ 0.00
Agreement Tax
Total $ 36,281.70
Down Payment {0.00}
Rental Applied (0.00)
Balance Due $ 36,281.70

Salesperson : X

Accepted By : X

Confidential



Quote Id: 29361241

JOHN DEERE

Selling Equipment

Customer Name: CITY OF SOUTH LYON WATER DEFPARTMENT

ALL PURCHASE CRDERS MUST BE MADE OUT ALL PURCHASE ORDERS MUST BE SENT
TO (VENDOR): TO DELIVERING DEALER:
Deere & Company Hutsaon, [nc.

2000 John Deere Run
Cary, NC 27513

FED ID: 36-2382580
UEID: FNSWEDARMKS53

20801 Pontiac Trail

South Lyon, Mi 48178
248-437-2091
southlyon@hutsoninc.com

Code

57TKAM

182A

1838
0505
1060

1950
2031

2350

2500
3003

3101
4022
4062
5006
6313

1900

" 001A  US/Canada

Standard Options Total

" 1880

JOHN DEERE GATOR™ XUV835M HVAC (Model Year 2023) -

Description

GATOR™ XUV835M HVAC

(Model Year 2023)

1 $ 0.00 11.00 0.00 $0.00

Less AutoTrac™/ 1 $0.00 11.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $0.00
GreenStar™ Harness
Less JDLink™ Hardware 1 $0.00 11.00 $ 0.00 $0.00 $ 0.00
Build To Order 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $ 0.00 $0.00
27" Predator Heavy-Duty all- 1 $175.00 11.00 $1925 $15575 $155.75
terrain radial tires on 14"
Yellow Steel Wheels
Less Application 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Split Bench Seat - Black 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Vinyl :
Park Position in 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Transmission _
Green and Yeliow 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Cargo Box with Spray In 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Liner, Brake, and Tail Lights
Cargo Box Power Lift 1 $1,048.00 11.00 $11528 $93272 $932.72
Full Door with Side Mirrors 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
HVAC Cab 1 $0.00 11.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Front Brush Guard 1 $ 426.00 11.00 $46.86 $379.14 $379.14
Winch 1  $1,056.00 11.00 $116.16 $ 039.84 $ 939.84

$2,705.00 $297.55 $2,407.45 $2407.45

Less Receive
Less Display

Price Effective Date: November 4, 2022

* Price per item - includes Fees and Non-contract items

Hours: Suggested List *
Stock Number: 350552 $ 33,765.96
Contract: Ml Ag, Grounds, and Roadside 071B7700085 (PG Selling Price *

3W CG 22) $ 30,051.70

Qty List Price Discount% Discount Contract Extended

Amount Price Contract
Price
1 $28,769.00 11.00 $3,164.59 $ 25,604.41 $25,604.41

. . . 0.00
1 $0.00 1100 $000  $0.00

$0.00

" $0.00

$0.00

Confidential




JOHN DEERE

Selling Equipment

Quote Id: 29361241 Customer Name: CITY OF SOQUTH LYON WATER DEPARTMENT

ALL PURCHASE ORDERS MUST BE MADE OUT ALL PURCHASE ORDERS MUST BE SENT
TO (VENDOR): TO DELIVERING DEALER:
Deere & Company Hutson, Inc.
2000 John Deere Run 20801 Pontiac Trail
Cary, NC 27513 South Lyon, MI 48178
FED ID: 36-2382580 248-437-2091
UEID: FNSWEDARMKS3 southlyon@hutsoninc.com
Technology Options Total $0.00 $0.00
BM26477 Rear View Mirror 1 $239.69 '$26.37  $21332 $213.32
BM22773 Tail Light Protectors 1 $128.40 $14.12 $114.28 $114.28
BUC10245 Rear panel giass protector 1 $ 260.01 11.00 $2860 $231.41 $ 231.41
BUC10809 Front Attachment Harness 1 $ 206.51 11.00 $2272 $183.79 $183.79
BM26739 Rear Cab Attachment 1 $ 88.81 11.00 $9.77 $79.04 $79.04
Harness
BM26391 Horn Kit 1 $ 39.59 11.00 $4.35 $ 35.24 $35.24
BM26216 LED Work Lights (2 Lights) 1 $ 453.69 11.00 $49.91 $ 403.78 $403.78
BM26215 LED Driving Lights (2 Lights) 1 $ 453.69 11.00 $ 49.91 $403.78 $403.78
BM26185 Beacon Light 1 $ 316.71 11.00 $3484 $281.87 $281.87
BUC10608 Front Turn Signal Light Kit 1 $104.86 11.00 $11.63 $93.33 $93.33
Dealer Attachments Total $2,291.96 $25212 $2,039.84 $2,039.84
Value Added Services
Total

Total Selling Price $ 33,765.96 $ 3,714.26 $ 30,051.70 $ 30,051.70

BOSS 6'6" V-PLOW COMPLETE WITH SNOW DEFLECTOR

Equipment Nofes: Suggested List *
Hours: 0 $6,230.00
Stock Number: Selling Price *
Contract: $6,230.00

Price Effective Date:
* Price per item - includes Fees and Non-contract items

Code Description Qty ListPrice Discount% Discount Contract Extended

Amount Price Contract

Price

MSC124 BOSS 6'6V PLOW 1 $5,150.00 0.00 $0.00 $5,150.00 $5,150.00
80 COMPLETE WITH

DEFLECTOR
MSC130 SNOW DEFLECTOR 1 $ 0.00 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $0.00
99
- Standard Options Total $ 0.00 ' $0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00

Confidential






AGENDA NOTE

New Business # 2,
MEETING DATE: October 9, 2023
PERSON PLACING ITEM ON AGENDA: City Manager
AGENDA TOPIC: Sanitary Sewer Evaluation

EXPLANATION OF TOPIC: As part of a multi-year plan to inspect our infrastructure,
in preparation for road improvements, the City has gone out for bid for Sanitary Sewer
Inspection. The areas to be inspected as part of this project are locations that are on our
radar for upcoming road paving (and potentially sewer) improvements, and were not part
of previous evaluations.

MATERIALS ATTACHED AS SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: A ILetter from Mike
Darga of HRC explaining the project and the Bid Tab is attached. We received two bids

and are recommending to hire DVM Utilities in the amount of $33,370.50. The funding
from the project will come from the Water / Sewer Professional Services Acct. No. 592-
557-801.

POSSIBLE COURSES OF ACTION: Approve or not approve the award of Sanitary
Sewer Evaluation Study to DVM Ultilities in the amount of $33,370.50 from Water /
Sewer Professional Services Acct. No. 592-557-801.

SUGGESTED MOTION: Motion by , supported by

to approve the award of Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Study to
DVM Utilities in the amount of $33,370.50 Water / Sewer Professional Services Acct.
No. 592-557-801.




105 W Grand River Avenue 9

Howell, Mi 48843
| 517-552-9199 \\
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC E
CONSULTING ENGINEERS SINCE 1915

www.hreengr.com @

October 2, 2023

City of-South Lyon

335 South Warren Strest

South Lyon, M 48178

Atn: ~Mr. Paul Zelenak, City Managér

Re: Confract Award Recommendation _ HRC Job No. 20220855
2023 Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Study ' ' . -

Dear Mr. Zelenak:

On Qctober 2,' 2023, the City received bids for the 2023 Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Study te clean and televise the sanitary s'eweré in
two (2) subdivisions. A total of two (2) contractors submitted bids of $33,370 and $43,741.20. The low bid was submitied by DVM
Utilities of Sterling Heights. Attached is one {1} copy of the bid tab for your records.

DVM Utiies has worked on simitar projects with the City in the past and have complsted the projscts in accordance with the contract
documents. Therefore, based on this information we would recommend that the Gity award the contract for the 2023 Sanitary Sewer
Evaluation Study to DVM Utilities in the amount of $33,370.50.

Ifyou have any questions or require any additional information, please contact the undersigned aft 248-535-3350.

Very truly yours, .

HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC.

Michael P, Darga, P.E. é{?/f

MFPD
Attachment

pe:  City of South Lyon; J. Archey
HRC; R. Alix, file




BID TABULATION Bids Due: October 2, 2023
CITY OF SOUTHLYON HRC Job # 20220855
2023 SANITARY SEWER EVALUATION STUDY o

_ DVM Utilities PipeTek _
__ltem_ L Quantity  Unit Price __ Total Cost Unit Price __Total Cost
1. IMobilization ' ' 1 |LS| $2,800.00 - $2,800.00 $0.00  $0.00
2. {Clean & Televise 8 inch Sanitary Sewer 6,606 |Lft $2.75 $18,166.50 $4.60 $30,387.60
3. [Clean & Televise 10 inch Sanitary Sewer 2,176|Lft $4.00 $8,704.00 $4.85 $10,553.60
-4, |Heavy Cleaning, 8-10 inch Diameter Sewer 800 jLft $2.75  $2,200.00 $2.50  $2,000.00
5. |Traffic Mainenance 1 |LS| $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $800.00 $800.00
_ 1$33,370.50 . $43,741.20

ENGINEER: Michael Darga

Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc.

105 W Grand River Ave
Howell, M| 48843

= |

. ) - Papge 1 HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC
Y:\202208420220855164_Design\2024_Roads\20231002_SL, 2023CGTY_BidTab.xls g COMSULTING EMGINEERS SIHCE‘ 19153
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The City of South Lyon

2023 Road Improvement Program
N. Haga_.dorn Subdivision

V4P

Q

PROIECT FLYER
OCTOBER. 3, 2023

Hello residents! The City of South Lyon will be resurfacmg both Warren Street and

McHattie Park (parking lot) i

Things__!_:_d: _e_xpe_cﬂ:

in the coming weeks.

*  Loud Construction Equipment

* Occasional Road Delays
- Pavement Removal and

Upcommg ActmﬂesJ

Asphalt Paving

*  Pavement Pulverlzm ' and Removal

City of South Lyon
335 S Warren St
South Lyon, M|
248-437-1735

Hubbell Roth & Clark Inc.
Jeff Parks
248-310-0000

~Contractor
DiPonio Contracting

Avery Bartlett

586-997-4150

Project Engineer

Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc.
Lukas Galiup

105 W. Grand River
Howell, M| 48843
Igallup@hrcengr.com




1 . 57721 Grand River

DRAUGHT

.- "\_  NewHudson, MI .

BONE

' i";Ponti:;u:'l"ri

L Martind'a_le' Rd

10 Mile Rd._-

" Tyon ...
|- Xownship -’

'DRAFTING
TABLE

'BREWING CO.
- 49438 Pontiac Trail
Wixom; MI.

" WixomRd g

Trl fﬂéﬁy{aﬂe_

ot

.BREWING CO.

WITCH'S HAT

601 S Lafayette St.
South H.ﬁ.-._.. MI

‘Peritiac

1 EnJOY

P Public Parking
@D Restroom

@ Food/Snacks/Etc.
@) Drinking Fountain

b distance in miles

YOUR
RIDE

if you visit both Witch’s
Hat and Draught Horse,
total distance is about 20
miles _.0::n_.ﬁ._.__u from the 0 05
start at Drafting Table.

The spur to Draught Horse

is just south of the tunnel

under 1-96; follow the trail at the fork

west to Milford Rd. Follow the temporary
orange trail marks to the brewery.

1

PLEASE PRESENT

TO SERVER

Voucher #

MEAL VOUCHER:

GOOD FOR $10 FOOD CREDIT AT EITHER

DRAUGHT HORSE OR WITCH’S HAT

2023.

r

NOT VALID FOR ALCOHOL PURCHASES.

VALID ONLY OCTOBER 8
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i Plante & Moran, PLLC

p ante . ) 1089 Woedward Avenue
21 I : ) . Detroit, M| 48226-1906

. . Tel: 313.496.7200
moran SR o . Fax: 313.466.7201

plantemoran.com

September 13, 2023

To the Mayor and Members of the City Council
City of South Lyon, Michigan

- We have audited the financial statements of the City of South Lyon, Michigan (the “City"} as of and for the

-~ year ended June 30, 2023 and have issued our report thereon dated September 13, 2023. Professional

- . standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit, which is divided -
" into the following sections: o :

Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Goverance. This section includes
-information that current auditing standards require independent auditors to communicate to those
individuals charged with governance. We will report this information annually to the mayor and the City
Council of the City of South Lyon, Michigan. '

Section Il - Other Recommendations and Related Information. This section presents recommendations
related to certain internal control matters, city processes and procédures, and other matters noted during
our current year audit. These comments, including State of Michigan legislative updates, are offered in the
interest of helping the City-in its efforts toward continuous improvement, not just in the areas of internal
control and accounting procedures, but also in operational or administrative efficiency and effectiveness.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the City's staff for the cooperation and courte.sy extended to
us during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism are invaluable. '

This report is intended solely for the use of the mayor, the City Gouncil, and management of the City of
South Lyon, Michigan and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties. Co

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following communications, and we would be willing
to discuss these or.any other questions that you might have at your convenience. T

Very truly yours,
Plante & Moran, PLLC

Timothy St. Andrew

o

Spencer Tawa

R PRAITY

¥ Toapetessag S Slabully



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 8, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute
assurance thaf the finanmal statements are free of material mlsstatement '

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City.- Such consrderataons were solely for the
purpose of determining our audlt procedures and not to provide any assurance .concerning such internal
control. :

We are responsible for commuinicating significant matters related to the audit 'that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting: process However, we are
not required fo design procedures specifically to identify such matters,

Planned Scope and Tu‘nmq_'o_f_the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in.our
. letter about planning matters dated August 10, 2023.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspecis of Accountr'ng Practices

Management is responsible for the 'selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management abdut the appropriateness of accounting
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1
to the financial statements.

No new accountmg policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was not changed during
2023.

We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative
gurdance oF consensus.

There are no- mgmflcant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different
period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected.

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements are the assumptions used by the City to
" estimate of the unbilled Water and Sewer Fund utility receivables, the various estimates utilized related to

the City's use of and inclusion in the Michigan Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (MERS) defined
. benefit pénsion plan, and the estimated liability related to the other postemployment benefit (OPEB) (retiree

health care). For the utility billing, management’s estimates and assumptions are based on actual previous
“similar calendar period utility billings. For the pension plan, estimates and assumptions are deterrhined by
"~ MERS and its actuary based on the City’s riegotiations with its bargaining units and resolutions of the City
Council. For retiree health care, the estimates and assumptions are determined by the actuary in
conjunction with city management and established City Council resofutions. We evaluated the key factors
and assumptions used to develop the various estimates in determining that they are reasonable in relation
to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the fmanmal statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
{Continued)

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in performing and.completing our audit.

Disagreements with Management

Forthe purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagréement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant
to the financial statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit. ST

Corracted and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to acéumulate all known and likely 'm'iss'tatenﬁéhts identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them fo the appropriate level of management.
. Management has corrected all such misstatements. T

 Significant Findings or Issties .

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accountihg principles and auditing
standards, business conditions affecting. the Gity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the
risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the City's auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and our
responses were not a condition of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested cedéin:_rEpfesentations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated September 13, 2023.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, managemerit may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of
an accounting principle to the City's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant
to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were
no such consultations with other accountants. '

Other Infbrfr_latibh Included in Annual Reports

Our responsibility for other information included in annual reporis does not extend beyond the financial
statements, ahd we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on the cther information. However,
we read the statistical section, and nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such
information, or its manner of presentation, is materially misstated or materially inconsistent with the
information or manner of its presentation appearing in-the financial statements.



Section Il _-_'O;her Recommendations and Related Information

We commend the City for considering and implementing a number of previously communicated
improvement suggestions from prior audit engagements. We also understand that not all recommendations
can be fully adopted due to the City’s smaller office staff limitations. During this year's audit, we noted areas
where we believe there are -opportunities for the City to further 'stréngthen internal control or to improve

operating results and/or efficiencies. Our observations on those areas are presented below for your
consideration: :

« Customer Deposits Payable - The City's general ledger asset and liability account balances are
composed of an accumulation of numerous transactions taking place over a period of time. At any one
point in time, the City should be able o reconcile the balances in these accounts to a detailed list. For
the customer deposits payable account, this reconciliation was not able to be completed. The City is

- working with its software vendor to be able to produce reports necessary to perform a detailed
reconciliation on the customer deposits payable account.

~e Equipment and Other Interfund Charges - The City allocates equipment rental charges from the

- Equipment Replacement Fund to some of the other city funds. These charges have been the same

amount for the past several years. In addition, the services provided by employees that are traditionally

charged to the General Fund, like treasury, finance, HR, etc., oftentimes significantly benefit other

.. funds. As aresult, it is a fairly common practice to allocate a portion of these costs via an administrative

- charge to other funds of the government. The City should perform an analysis to determine if the

- amount allocated to each fund is still reasonable. It is our understanding that this analysis is currently
underway with direct involvement by accounting, department heads, and the C|ty manager.

COViD-19 Resource Center and ARPA

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, Plante & Moran, PLLC's COVID-19 task force of leaders across
the firm has monitored, addressed, and provided insight related to the virus and the unique challenges
our local governments have faced while continuing to- provide essential services to their communities
through our ARPA and COVID-19 resource center for governments. Following is a link to various ARPA-
related articles that we believe will be of interest to you: hitps://www.plantemoran.com/explore-gur-
thinking/search ?skip=10&keyword=arpa&type=all&professional=all&practice=all &industry=85a5df97-
9c41-4000-86d3-db25835731a68areaOfFocus=all&daterande=ali&sortBy=DateDesc.

[n March 2021, the president signed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) inta law, which included federal
stimulus funding for state ‘and local governments of all sizes. The largest of all funding streams, the
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF), represents a $350 hillion top-line allocation
for state and local governments. Funding was provided in two franches beginning in May 2021, with the
second tranche not being released until 12 months after the first payment. Effective April 1, 2022, the U.S.
Department of the Treasury published the final rule for detérmining the types of programs and services that -
are eligible uses of the SLFRF funding. Overall information about the program, including a frequently asked.
guestions document and an overview of the final rule, is available on the U.S. Department of the

Treasury's website at https://home.treasury. gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-arid-
tribal-governments. S ‘ N

The ARPA award terms provide that payments from the Fiscal Recovery Funds as a general matter will be
subject to the provision of Title 2 U.8. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the “Uniform Guidance”),
including the cost principles and restrictions on general provisions for selected items of cost. The City will
need to understand these reforms and may be required fo evaluate, document, and monltor mtema]
procedures around compliance, including malnta:nlng ceﬂaln required policies.

Plante & Moran, PLLC's COVID-19 resource center is being continuously updated for the latest guidahce
and strategy related to SLFRF and will help keep the City running smoothly through our nation’s recovery.

Want to receive relevant content directly to your email? Subscribe at https: /iwww plantemoran.com/
subscribe where you can customize your subscription preferences based on your specific interests and
industry selection.



Section Il - Other Recommendations and Related Information
{Continued)

Michigan’s COVID-19 Updates and Relatéd Grant Programs

The Michigan Department of Treasury has developed a webpage with numbered letters, memorandums,

webinars, and resources regarding COVID-19 updates and related grant programs: https:/www.,
michiqan.qovftreasurvlo,4679.7-121-_1751 98769---,00.html. o

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Alternative Compliance Examination

In April 2022, the Office of Management and Budget amended its compliance rules to allow for a simplified
single audit process for municipalities that would not be required to undergo a single audit if it were not for
the expenditures of SLFRF. This alternative applies to fiscal year audits beginning after June 30, 2020.
SLFRF recipients that expend $750,000 or more during their fiscal years and meet the following two criteria
have the option for their auditor to follow the alternative compliance examination engagement guidance:

1. The recipient'é total SLERF award received directly from the U.S. Department of the Treasury or
received as a nonentitlement unit is $10 million or less.

2. Other federal award funds expended by the recipient {(excluding SLFRF award funds) are less than
$750,000 during its fiscal year.

‘We are happy to-assist in evaluating the application of the charges and answer any questions about how
the changes impact the City.

Monitoring Lease Activity

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, was effective in fiscal year 2022. Although significant analyses were
performed to determine the applicability of the new standard and record any necessary adjustments, we
want to stress the importance of implementing ongoing monitoring procedures over lease activity. When
the City enters into new leases, existing leases are modified, or other facts and circumstances change,
consideration must be given to the impact those changes will have on lease accounting. In order to do so,
the City must ensure there is a process in place to identify and appropriately account for new leases or
changes to existing leases on an ongoing basis or least at the end of each year. .- '

Cybersecurity and Information Technology Cor_ltrol's

Cyberattacks are on the rise across the globe, and the cost of these aftacks is ever increasing. Because of

these attacks, municipalities stand to lose their reputation, the ability to operate efficiently, and proprietary

information or assets. Communities potentially can also be subject to financial and legal liabilities. Managing

this issue is especially challenging because even a municipality with a highly mature cybersecurity risk

management program still has a residual risk that a material cybersecurity breach could occur and not be

detected in a timely manner. We understand that the technology department continues to monitor and

evaluate this risk, which are critical best practices. Additionally, periodic assessments of the system in order

to verify that the control environment is working as intended are key parts of measuring associated business

risk. We encourage administration and those charged with governance to work with the technology team-
on this very important topic. If we can be of assistance in the process, we would be happy to do so.

Federal Procurement Threshold Ch’ar_lqes

The Office of Management and Budget has issued significant reforms to the compliance requirements that.
must be followed by nonfederal entities. The Office of Management and Budget recently issued . -
Memorandum M-18-18, which provides guidance on changes to micropurchases and simplified acquisition. . -
threshold requirements. The key changes are as follows: o

¢ Threshold for micropurchases is increased to $10,000. o
» Threshold for simplified acquisitions (small purchase procedures limit) increased to $250,000. -



Section Il - Other Recommendatlons and Related Information
(Continued)

Key adoption considerations for micropurchase and simplified acquisition thresholds include the following:

« . During the original adoption of the Uniform Guidance procurement standards, were specific amounts
included within the City’s praocurement policy, or were references to the Uniform Guidance sections or
amounts as adjusted referenced? If specific amounts were referenced; the procurement policy will need
to.be updated to take advantage of the changes. '

+ Ifthe City’s procurement policy was written to allow for changes in amounts, the procedures will need '
tc be updated to conform.

o If this change is inconsistent with other procdremeht pelicies within the organi}_ation the City must
decide how the policy will be enacted. Remember local ordinances in plece may limit full utilization of
changes

o Ifthe City has chosen not to fully adopt the change and maintain a lower threshold then the City is not
required to use these thresholds but cannot exceed them.

Upcoming Accountmq Standards Requiring Preparatlon

We actively monitor new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards and due process
documents and provide periodic updates to help you. understand how the latest financial reporting
developments will impact the City. [n addition to the summaries below and to stay up to date, Plante &
Moran, PLLC issues a biannual GASB accounting standard update. The most recent spring 2023 update
and a link to previous fall and spring updates are available here.

GASB Statement No. 101 - Compensated Absences

This new aceounting pronouncement will he effective for fiscal years ending December 31, 2024 and after.
This statement updates the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences under a
unified model, requiring that liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for leave that has not been
used and leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. This
statement also establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used and updates
disclosure requirements for compensated absences.
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Independent Auditor's Report

- To the Mayor and Members of Clty Councnl
City of South Lyon, Michigan '

.. Opinions

We have audited the flnanmal statements of the governmental activities, the business-type actnntles the
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City
of South Lyon, Michigan (the “Clty“) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectwely comprise the City's basic finanéial statements, as listed in the table of
contents. :

In our opinion, the accompanying:financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of June 30, 2023
and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unlted States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audifor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and
to- meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtalned is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Finé_ncia! Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the design, implementation,
- and maintenance of internal control relevant fo the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for
12 months beyend the financial statement date, mcludmg any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
apinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstaterment resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

7Y PRAXITY
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To the Mayor and Members of City Council
City of South Lyon, Michigan

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

o Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and other required supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of
contents, is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the other supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual financial report. The other information
comprises the statistical section schedules but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not
express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.



To the Mayor and Members of City Council
City of South Lyon, Michigan

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial
statements or whether the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are

requirad to describe it in our report.
‘4«& f 77[»«0, PLee

September 13, 2023



City of Sduth Lyon, Michigan
- Management's Discussion and Analysis

As manage'n"nent of the City of South Lyon, Michigan (the "City"}, we offer readers this narrative overview and..
analysis of the f nancial activities for the year ended June 30, 2023,

Financial H:ghhghts

As discussed in further detail in this management's discussion and analysis, the following represents the most
sngmflcant financial highlights for the year ended June 30, 2023: :

. Revenue and other financing sources were below expenditures in the General Fund, thus decreasing fund
balance by approximately $1,180,000. This was lower than the f nal amended budget, which expected a-
decrease of approximately $1,517,000. '

. Total net position related to the City's governmental activities decreased by $96,164.
Using Th:s Annual Report

This-annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position and the statemént of
activities provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a longer-term view of the .
City's finances. This longer-term view uses the accrual basis of accounting so that it can measure the cost of -
providing services during the current year and whether the taxpayers have funded the full cost of prowdlng
government services. '

The fund financial statements present a short-term view; they tell the reader how the taxpayers' resources were -
spent during the year, as well as how much is available for future spending. Fund financial statements also report
the City's operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements by provndmg information about
the City's most significant funds. .

Government-wide Overali Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net posrclon over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the
case of the City,. assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by
$53,670, 193 atthe close of the most recent fiscal year. :



City of South Lyon, Michigan

The City's Net Position

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The follow:in'g table shows, in'a condensed format, the net position as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Assets
Current and other assets
Capital assets

Total assets

Deferred Qutflows of
Resources

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of
Resources

Net Position

Net investment in capital -

assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position 3_23.592,830 $ 23,688,994 $ 30,077,363 $ 20,0

Governmental Activities

Business-type Activities

2023

2022

2023

- 2022

Total

2023

2022

$ 25870066 $° 17971877 $ 09660279 $ 9,507,192 § 35539345 $ 27,479,069

17,206,778 -~ 14,987,826 26,584,226 26,057,088 43,791,004 41,944,814
43,076,844 = 32,959,703 36,253,505 36,464,280 79,330,349 69,423,983
1,684,298 1,261,517 308,107 216,929 2,192 405 1,478,446
3,451 ,352.'. 2,241,792 362,143 567,863 3,813,495 2,809,655
17,648,027 6,929,803 6,073,091 6,855,762 23,722,018 13,785,565
21,100,279 9,171,595 6,435,234 7,423,625 27,535,513 16,595,220

. 268,033 1,360,631 49,015 234,848 .317,048 1,505,479
15,344,400 14,987,826. 21,816,847 21,064,709 - 37,161,247 36,052,535
5,273,246 6,437,430 1,312,477 1,040,109 6,585,723 7,477,539
2,975,184 2,263,738 6,948,039 6,917,918 9,923,223 9,181,656

22,736 $ 53,670,193 $ 52,711,730




City of So_uth Lyon, Michigan

Mana'g"ement's Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The City's Changes in Net Position - B
The following table shows the changes in the net position during the years ended June 30, 2023 and '20:22:

Governmental Activities Business—type Activities Total

2023. 2022 2023 - 2022 2023 2022

Revehue
Program revenue; S
Charges for services § 715,249 3% 815159 § 3,829,755 $ 3,587,133 $ 4545004 § 4,502,292

- Operating grants 1,406,803 1,367,242 - - 1,406,803 1,367,242
Capital grants - - 261,800 471,800 261,800 471,800
General revenue: )
Taxes 5,678,144 5,329,214 1,345673 1,251,431 7,023,817 6,580,645
Intergovernmental 1,597,784 1,607,179 - - 1,597,784 1,607,179
Investment earnings 368,167 6,363 138,060 3,880 506,227 10,243
Other revenue 435,857 302,531 - - 435857 . 302,531
Total revenus 1_0,2_02,:004 9,527,688 5,575,288 5,314,244 15,777,_292‘ 14,841,932
Expenses _ S
General government 2,028,798 1,815,859 - - 2,028,798 1,915,859
Public safety 4,632,141 3,767,895 - - 4,832,141 3,767,895
Public works 2917402 2,751,151 - - 2,917,402 2,751,151
Community and economic -~
development © 153,587 105,869 - - - 153,587 105,869
Regreation and culture o 409,353 364,433 - - - 409,353 364,433
Debt service o 141,152 26,445 - - - 141,152 26,445
Water and sewar - - 4,536,396 4,700,020 4,536,396 4,700,020
Total expenses 10,282,433 8,931;65_2 4,536,396 4,70_0,:020 14,818,829 13,631,672
Transfers {(15,735) - 15,735 ' - - -
Change in Net Position (96,164) 596,036 1,054,827 614,224 958 463 1,210,260

Net Position - Beginning of o
year 23,688,994 23,002,958 29,022,736 28,408,512 52,711,730 51,501,470

Net Position - End of year 323,692,830 $ 23,688,994 $ 30,077,363 $ 29,022,736 $ 53,670,193 § 52,711,730
Govefnmental Activities

The City's total governmental expenses increased year over year by approximately $1,351,000. The significant
increase is principally due to recognizing the fult costs of the new firetruck placed into service during the year,
whrch totaled $1,250,000.

Business-type Activities

The City's business-type activities consist of the Water and Sewer Fund. The City provides water distribution and
sewage treatment to residents from the city- owned water. supp[y and treatment facility. Expenses decreased by
approximately $164,000.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

QOver the course of the year, the City amended the budget to account for changes made necessary due to
unanticipated events or situations requiring the decrease of expenditures for operational and capital expenditures.
The amended budget projected a decrease of approximately $1,517,000 in fund balance. The actual decrease of
fund balance was approximately $1,180,000. This decrease is mamly related to expenditures by the City to
purchase a firetruck in the amount of $1,250,000.



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Management's Discussion and Analys1s (Continued)

Total General Fund revenue was approximately $13;000 more than the amended budget. This was primarily due
to higher state-shared revenue and investment income than budgeted that was offset by lower property tax
revenue than budgeted. General Fund expenditures were approximately $334,000 less than the amended budget
due primarily to police wages and fringe benefit expense amounts being lower than budgeted and park
department capital equipment purchases being lower than budgeted.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

At the end of 2023 the City had approxmately $44 million (after depreciation) invested in a broad range of capital
assets, including bundlngs roads, police and fire equipment, and water and sewer lines. During the year, the City
issued $7,525,000 in debt to help pay for future road projects within the City. Outstanding debt of the
governmental and business-type activities totaled approximately $14.4 million as of June 30, 2023. For additional
information related to capital assets and debt, please see Notes 4 and 5, respectwely

Econom:c Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

The Cltys budget for next year fakes into consideration many factors antu:lpated to impact the budget. Among
them are steadﬂy increasing property tax income, as taxable value (in both the housmg and commercial markets)
is projected to increase by approximately 10.6 percent in 2023. Over the years; the City has had the flexibility to -
adjust various ad valorem tax rates as necessary and as determined by Headlee, Truth in Taxation, and Proposal

A. The statewide tax reform acts limit growth in taxable value to inflation or 5 percent whichever is less -

Requests for Further Information .

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the City's finances and demonstrate the City's
accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional information,
" please contact the city manager's office.



City of South Lyon, Michigan

St_atement of Net Position

Assels
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
[nvestments
Receivables:
Customer receivables
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Internal balances
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Restricted assets (Note 1)
Investment in joint venture (Note 8)
_Land held for resale
Capital assets: (Note 4)
Assets not subject to depreciation

Assets subject to depreciation - Net
Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources - Deferred pension
and OPEB costs (Notes 9 and 10)
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other governmental units
Cash bonds-and deposits
Accrued liabilities and other
Uneamed revenue
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one vear:
Compensated absences (Noie 6)
Current poriion of long-term debt (Note 6)
Due in more than one year: .
Compensated absences (Note 6)
Net pension liability (Note 10}
Net OPEB liability (Note 9)
Long-term debt (Note 6)

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Deferred pension
and OPEB cost reductions (Notes @ and 10)

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted: -
Road improvements
Law enforcement
Cemetery -
Opioid settlement
Debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

See notes to financial statements.

Primary Government

June 30,2023

Component Unit

. Downtown - .
Governmental  Business-type Development: -
Activifies Activifies Total Authon_‘i'ty =
$ 14221513 $ 7375975 $ 21,507,488 § 160,653
1,000,000 - 1,000,000 S

210,870 1_5,202,446 1,413,316 Coe
36,615 : - 36,615 R
690,956 - 15,523 706,479 -
261,058 (261,058) - . -
182,899 23,916 206,815 -
8,899,748 1,312,477 10,212,225 -
313,407 - - 313,407 -
53,000 - 53,000 -
4,195,420 170,745 4,366,165 -
13,011,358 26,413,481 39,424 839 -
43,076,844 36,253,505 79,330,349 180,653
1,884,208 308,107 2,192,405 -
1,781,561 332,347 2,113,908 4,779
3,828 - 3,628 -
344,138 - 344,138 -
. 280,959 29,798 310,755 -
1,041,066 - 1,041,066 -
202,500 35,800 238,100 -
445,000 1,155,000 1,600,000 -
202,487 35,630 238,117 ;
7,258,055 1,169,812 8,427 867 -
332,808 64,670 397,276 -
9,208,279 3,612,379 12,820,658 -
21,100,279 6,435,234 27,535,513 4778
268,033 49,015 317,048 -
15,344 400 21,816,847 37,161,247 -
4,569,666 - 4,560,666 -
3,275 - - 3275 -
691,364 - 691,364 -
8,941 - © 8,941 -
- 1,312,477 1,312,477 -
2,975,184 6,948,039 8,823,223 155,874
$ 23,692,830 § 30,077,363 $ 53,670,193 § 155,874




City of South Lyon, Michigan

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmenital activities:
© General government
Public safety - Police, fire, and EMS
Community maintenance and
development
Community and economic
development
- Recreation and culture
Interest on long-term debt

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities - Water and
sewer

Total primary government

Component units - Downtown Development
Authority

See notes to financial statements.

Program Revenue

Operating  Capital Grants
Chargesfor  Grants and and

Expenses Services ~ Contributions  Contributions
$ 2028798 % 698,596 3% o= 8 -
4,632,141 16,653 201,187 -
2,917,402 . - 1,177,105 -
153,587 - 28,511 -
409,353 - - -
141,152 - - -
10,282 433 715,249 1,406,803 -
4,536,396 3,829,755 - 261,800

$ 14,818,829 $ 4,545,004 $ 1,406,803 $ 261,800
$ 63,979 $ - % 58,222 § -

General revenue:
Property taxes o
Unrestricted state-shared revenue
Unrestricted investment income
Cable franchise fees B
Gain on sale of capital assets
Other miscellaneous income

Total general revenue
Transfers
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year



Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Component
Primary Government Unit
: Downtown
Governmental Business-type Development
Activities Activities Total Authority
{1,330,202) $ - $ (1,330,202) $ -
(4,414,301) - (4,414,301) -
(1,740,297} - (1,740,297) -
{125,076) - -{125,0786) -
{409,353} - - {409,353) -
{141,152) - (141,152) -
{8,180,381) - {8,160,381) -
- (444,841) (444,84 1) -
{8,160,381) (444.841) {8,605,222) -
B} - - (5,757)
5,678,144 1,345,673 7,023,817 - 57,289
1,697,784 - 1,597,784 -
368,167 138,080 506,227 2,147
129,128 - -, 129128 -
22,500 - - 22,500 -
284,229 - 284,229 -
8,079,952 1,483,733 9,563,685 59,438
(15,735) 15,735 = - -
(96,164) 1,054,627 968,463 53,679
23,688,994 29,022,736 52,711,730 102,195

$ 23,692,830 $ 30,077,363 $ 53,670,193 $ 165,874

10



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Mote 3)

Investments (Note 3)
Receivables: - _

Customer receivables

Other receivables

Due from other governments
Due from other funds {Note 5)

Prepaid expénses and other assets

Restricted assets (Note 1)
Land held for resale

Total assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other governmental units
Due to other funds
Cash bonds and deposits
Accrued liabilities and other

Uneamed revenue
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of Resources -
Unavailable revenue

Fund Balances
Neonspendable |
Restricted:
Reads
Police )
Cemetery perpetual care
Opioid settlement
Committed:
Capital improvements
Land acquisition
Equipment replacement
Unassigned

Tetal fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of rescurces,
and fund balances

See notes to financial statements.

June 30, 2023

Capital Total

Major Road Municipal Improvement Nonmajor = Governmental

General Fund Fund Street Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 5805359 § 3862978 § - % 2352933 5 2200243 § 14,221,513
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
210,870 - - - - 210,870
36,615 - - - " 36615
462,976 139,577 - - 88403 690,956
379,610 - - - - 379,610
171,726 7,264 - - "3,900 182,899

- - 8,800,748 - . 8,899,748

. - - . 53,000 - 53,000

$ 8,067,156 $ 4,009819 $ 8,899,748 $ 2,352,933 $ 2,345,555 § 25,675,211
$ 233667 §- 11,850 § - 308,520 $§ 800,327 $§ 427188 $ 1,781,561
3,310 - - 318 - 3,628

- 44,941 - - . 73611 118,552

344,138 - - - - 344,138
105,488 841 - - 841 107,170
1,041,066 - - - - 1,041,066
1,727 669 57,641 308,520 800,645 501,640 3,396,115
265,837 - - - 28,511 204,348
171,726 7,264 - - 3,909 182,899

- 3,944,914 8,591,228 - 613,579 13,149,721

- - - - 3,275 3,275

- - - - 691,364 691,364

8,941 - - - - 8,941
192,267 - - 1,552,288 - 1,744,555

. - - - 132,930 132,930

- - - - 308,858 - 398,858
5,700,716 - - - {28,511) 5,872,205
6,073,650 3,952,178 8,591,228 1,552,288 1,815,404 21,984,748
$ 8,067,156 § 4,009,819 $ 8,899,748 $ 2,352,933 $. 2,345,555 § 25,675,211

11



City of South Lyon, .M"i_chigan S
o | o - GOVemmental Funds
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Fund Balances Reported in Governmental Funds $ 21,984,748

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:
Capital assets are not financial resources and are not reported in the funds 17,206,778

Recsivables that are not collected soon after yeér end- are not available to pay for
current period expenditures and therefore are reported as unavailable revenue in the
funds 294,348

Investments in joint ventures are not financial resources and are not reported in the
funds . 313,407

Debt obligations are not due and payable in the current perlod and are not reported in
the funds _ (9,653,279)

Accrued interest is not due and payable in the currént period and is not reported in the .
funds . _ - (173,789)

Some employee fringe benefits are payable over a long period of years and do not -
represent a claim on current financial resources; therefore, they are not reported as

fund fiahilities:
Employee compensated absences. o {404,987)
Pension benefits : (5,599,463)
Retiree health care benefits (374,933)
Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 23,592,830

See notes to financial statements. 12



City of South Lyon, Michigan

. Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Capital Total
Major Road Municipal Street  Improvement Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Fund Nonmajor Funds Funds
Revenue o o
Property taxes S § 5229586 § - 8 - % 448,558 § - $ 5878144
Intergovernmental: C
Federal grants - - 201,187 - - - 25,225 226,412
State sources; ' -
State-shared revenue 1,352,098 - - - - 1,352,998
Act51.gas and weight tax - 822,650 - - 352927  117ES77 .
Local Community Stabilization - - -
Autharity 211,513 - - - - S 211,513
Metro act - 39,284 E - - - .. 39,204
Local grants and contrioutions 37,810 - Co- - - L7810
Charges for services 93,312 - I - 115825 - 209,137
Fines and forfeitures 16,653 - - - - - - 18,663
Licenses and permits 638,812 - - - - - 638,812
Investment income 258,658 639 65,157 33,858 8,855 368,167 -
Other revenuz . . 211,232 o - : 44.600 255,832
Total revenue 8,251,881 862,583 65,157 482,416 548,432 10,210,449
Expenditures '
Cureent services: . : N
General government 1,786,438 - - - - - 1,788,489
Public safety 5,475,208 - - - 65,855 "5,541,153
- Public works 1,244,028 310,059 308,520 2,790 791,956 2,657,353
Community and economic development . - - - 28,511 28,511
Recreation-and culture 397,525 - - - - 397,525
Capital outiay - - - 1,112,205 173,857 1,288,062
Debt service 534,868 - 109,953 - - 644,821
Total expenditures 9,438,158 310,050 418,473 1,114,995 1,060,179 12,341,854
Excess of Revenue {Under) Over Expenditures . (1,186,287) 552,624 (353,316) ) (532.579) (511,747) (2,131,415)
Other Financing Sources {Uses) .
Transfers in - - - - 100,000 100,000
Transfers out (15,735) (100,000) - - - {115,738)
New debt issued : - - 8,944,544 - - 8,844 544
Sale of capital assets 22,500 - . ' - - 22,500
Total other financing .
sources {Uses) 6,765 (100,000) 8,844 544 - 100,000 8,951,309
Net Change in Fund Balances {1,179.532) 452524 8,591,228 (632,579) (411.747) 6,819,804
Fund Balances - Reginning of year 7,253,182 3,409,654 - 2,184,867 2,227,151 15,164,854

Fund Balances - End of year

$ 6073650 $ 3952178 §  B591,228 § 1,562,288 §  1,815404 § . 21,984,748

See notes to financial statements. _ . 13



City of South Lyon, Michigan -
: | Governmental F-unds'
Reconciliation.of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in

- Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30,_-2023

Net Change in Fund Balances Reported in Governmental Funds $ 6,819,894

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures: however, in the statement of
activities, these costis are allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation:
Capital outlay 4,054,402
Depreciation expense (1,835,450)

Revenue in the statement of activities that does not provide current financial resources
is not reported as revenue in the funds until it is available 33,880

Change in in'\_festment in joint venture is not recorded in the governmental funds but is
recorded in the statement of activities (17,596)

Issuing debt and entering into leases provide current financial resources o
governmental funds but increase long-term liabilities in the statement of net position (8,944,544}

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds but not in the
statement of activities (where it reduces long-term debt). Also, governmental funds
report the effect of premiums when debt s first issued, whereas these amounts are
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities 541,265

Interest expense is recognized in the government-wide statements as it accrues (147,549)

Some employee costs (pension, OPEB, and compensated absences) do not require the
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in

the governmental funds _ {600,466)
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities : $ (96,164)

See notes to financial statements. 14



City of SQuth Lyon, Michigan

Proprietary Fund - Water and Sewer Fund

Statement of Net Position

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables - Customer receivables
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets (Note 1)
‘Capital assets: (Note 4)
Assets not subject to depreciation
- -Assets subject to depreciation - Net

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources - Deferred pension and OPEB costs (Notes 9 and 10) -

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other funds (Note 5)
Accrued liabilities and other
Compensated absences (Note 6)

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6)
Total currént liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences {(Note 6)
Net pension liability (Note 10)
“Net OPEB liability (Note 9)
.. Long-term debt {Note 6)

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Deferred pension and OPEB cost
reductions {Notes 9 and 10)

Net Position C
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted - Debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

See notes to financial statements. 15

June 30, 2023

7,375,975
1,217,969
23,916

8,617,860

1,312,477

170,745
26,413,481

27,896,703

36,514,563
308,107

332,347
261,058
29,796
35,600
1,155,000

1,813,801

35,630
1,169,812
64,670
3,612,379

4,882,491

6,696,292

49,015

21,816,847
1,312,477
6,948,039

30,077,363



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Proprietary Fund - Water and Sewer Fund
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenue
- Sale of water
Sewage disposal charges
Refuse collection
Billing and collection charges
Other income

. Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages
Fringe benefits
Equipment repair and maintenance
Pubiic utilities
Refuse collection
"Professional services
Insurance
Other
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating Loss

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense}
Property tax revenue:
Investment incorme -

Interest expense -~

Total nonoperating revenue
Income - Before capital contributions
Capital Contributions - Tap-in fees
Transfers In
Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year

See notes to financial statements.
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Year Ended June 30, 2023

$ 1,635,851
1,659,803
588,068

41,640

3,393

3,829,755

737,427
423,709
308,339
444 842
589,955
208,045
28,198
241,918
1,425,066

4,409,399
(579,644)

1,345,673
138,080
(126,997)

1,356,736
777,092
261,800
15,735
1,054,627
29,022,736

$ 30,077,363




City of South Lyon, Michigan

Proprietary Fund - Water and Sewer Fund
Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Year_Ended June 30, 2023

Receipts from customers S R $ 3,700,646
Payments to suppliers ' T (1,961,885)
Payments to employees and fringes (1,108,761)
Other payments . (2,797}
_ Net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities 629,403
Cash Flows Provided by Nencapital Financing Aétivities - Receipts from other funds 214,063
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Collection of tap-in fees . 261,800
Property taxes revenue received 1,345,673
Purchase of capital assets (1,052,204)
Principal and interest paid on capital debt {1,259,809)
Net cash and cash equivalents used in capital and related financing activities (704,540)
Cash Flows Provided by Investing Activities - Interest received on investments 138,060 '
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents' 276,986 .
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 8,411,466 .
Ca_s'h and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 8,688,452
Classification of Cash and Cash Equivalents .
Cash and investments .. .~ . _ $ 7,375,975
Restricted cash B ' 1,312,477
Total cash and cash equivalents 3 $_3@_8_3’4L2
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating Activities ' -
Operating loss -~ : 3 (579,644)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation ' 1,425,066
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables {(131,906)
Prepaid and other assets 48,477
Accounts payable (197,908)
_ Net pension or OPEB liability 339,737
Deferrals related to pension or OPEB (277,011)
Accrued and other liabilities. 2,592
Total adjustments 1,209,047
Net cash and caé.’h:equivalents provided by operating activities wﬁﬂ

See notes to financial statements. 17



City of South Lyon, Michigan

 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2023
Other Custodial Fund -
Postemployment Tax Colfection  Total Fiduciary
Benefits Fund Fund Funds
Assets - Interest in pooled investment $ 288,865 $ -8 288,865
Liabilities SR - - -
Net Position - Restricted for postemployment benefits - | o R
other than pension ' _ 3 288,865 $ .-.."_.j_$ 288,865

See n'otes to financial statements. 18



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Posi'tion'. o
. Year Ended June 30, 2023

Other: Custodial Fund -

Postemployment Tax Collection  Total Fiduciary
Benefits Fund Fund Funds
Additions |
Investment income (loss): .
Net increase in fair value of investments 3 22,562 $ - $ 22,562
Investment expenses (462) - (462)
Net investment income 22,100 - 22,100
Contributions ' 102,559 - 102,559
Property tax collections for other taxing authorities - 12,244,074 12,244,074
Total additions 124,659 12,244,074 12,368,733
Deductions _
Benefit payments o 30,559 - 30,559
Property tax disbursements to other taxing authorities - 12,244,074 12,244,074
- .Total deductions 30,559 12,244 074 12,274,633
Net Increase in Fiduciary Net Position o 94,100 - 94,100
Net Po'sitio_r_i - Beginning of year § o 194,765 - 194,785
Net Position - End of year . $ 288,865 $ - $ 288,865

See notes to financial statements. 19



City of South Lyon, Michigan

:N:otes to Financial Statements

N June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity

The City of South Lyon, Michigan (the "City") is governed by an elected seven-member council. The
accompanying financial statements present the City and its component unit, an entity for which the Clty is
considered to be financially accountable. The discretely presented component unit is reported in a
separate column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from
the City.

Blended Component Units

The South Lyon Building Authority (the "Building Authority”) is governed by a board appointed by the
City's governing body. Although it is legally separate from the City, the Building Authority is reported as if
it were part of the prlmary government because its sole purpose i5 to acquire and lease property to the
City.

Discretely Prfesented Component Unit
Downtown Development Authority

The Downtown Development Authority (the "DDA") was created to correct and prevent deterioration in
the downtown district, encourage historical preservation, and promote economic growth within the
downtown district. The DDA's governing body, which consists of nine individuals, is appointed by the
- mayor and confirmed by the City Council. In addition, the DDA's budget is subject to approval by the City
Council. The DDA does not issue a separate financial report.

- Accounting and Reporting Principles

The Gity of South Lyon, Michigan follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP), as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting
pronouncements are promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The
following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used by the City:

Report Presentation

Governmental accounting principles require that financial reports include two different perspectives - the
government-wide perspective and the fund-based perspective: The government-wide financial statements
(ie., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component unit. The government-wide financial
statements are presented on the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of
accounting. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility reguirements imposed by the provider
have been met. The statements also present a schedule reconciling these amounts to the modified
accrual-based presentation found in the fund-based statements.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses. of a given function or
-segment are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. Program revenue includes: (1)} charges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided; (2) operating grants and contributions; and (3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenue are reported instead as general revenue. '

For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Exceptions to
this general rule are charges between the City's water and sewer function and various other functions of
the Clty Elminations of these charges would dlstort the direct costs and program revenue reported for
the various functions concerned. : :

20



City of South Lyon, Michigan _
| Notes to Financial Statements

" June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) |

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary -funds, and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in
the fund financial statements. .

Fund Accounting

The City accounts for its various activities in several different funds in order to demonstrate accountability
for how it spent certain resources; separate funds allow it to show the particular expenditures for which
specific revenue was used. The various funds are aggregated into three broad fund types: -.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds include all activities that provide general governmental services. that are not
business-type activities. This includes the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, and
capital project funds. The City reports the General Fund, the Major Road Fund, the Capital Improvement
Fund, and the Municipal Street Fund as major governmental funds. The General Fund is the primary
operating fund because it accounts for all financial resources used to provide general government
services, other than those specifically assigned to another fund. The Major Road Fund is a special
revenue fund that accounts for the City's construction and maintenance of its major street system. The
Major Road Fund is funded primarily through the receipt of State of Michigan motor vehicle fuel taxes.
The Capital Improvement Fund is a capital project fund that accounts for the City's major capital
improvement projects and is primarily funded through collection of property taxes. The Municipal Street
Fund is a capital project fund that accounts for the City's construction of streets and was primarily funded
by a debt issuance to be spent on future street projects. The fund will also collect property taxes to pay
back the debt as voted by the tax payers.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds include enterprise funds (which provide goods or services to users in exchange for
charges or fees). The City reports only the Water and Sewer Fund as a major enterprise fund. The Water
and Sewer Fund provides. water to customers and disposes of sanitary sewage in exchange for user
charges. '

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds include amounts held in a fiduciary capacity for others. These amounts will not be used to
operate the City's government programs. Activities that are reported as fiduciary include the following:

s The Other Postempldyment Benefits Fund accumulates resources for future retiree health care
payments to eligible employees. '

¢ The Tax Collection Fund collects and distributes taxes on behalf of various taxing authorities (state,
county, school district, and the various smaller authorities).

Interfund Activity

During the course of operations, the City has activity between funds for various purposes. Any residual
balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from other
funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial statéments, certain eliminations are made in
the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances between the funds included in
governmental activities (i.e., the governmental funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is
included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the
funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan_ }

Notes to Finahciai' Statements

o June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Furthermore, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In
fund financial statements, these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers infout. While
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-
wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated
so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental activities column. Similarly,
balances between the funds included ‘in business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net
amount is included as transfers in the business-type activities column.

Basis of Accounting

The governmental funds use the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. This basis of accounting is intended to better demonstrate accountability for how the
government has spent its resources.

Expenditures are reported when the goods are received or the services are rendered. Capital outlays are
reported as expenditures (rather than as capital assets) because they reduce the ability to spend
resources in the future; conversely, employee benefit costs that will be funded in the future (such as
pension and retiree health care-related costs or sick and vacation pay) are not counted until they come
due for payment. In addltlon debt service expenditures, claims, and Judgments are recorded only when
payment is due. : :

Revenue is not recognized until it is collected or collected soon endugh after the end of the year that it is
available to pay for obligations outstanding at the end of the year. For this purpose, the City considers
amounts collected within 60 days of year end to be available for recognition. The following major revenue
sources meet the availability criterion: some state-shared revenue, some state gas and weight tax -
revenue, certain grant revenue, and interest associated with the current fiscal period. Conversely, some
state-shared revenue and grant revenue wil! be collected after the period of availability; recelvables have
been recorded for these amounts, along with a deferred inflow.

Proprietary funds and fiduciary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the full
accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded ‘when a
liability is incurrad, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Specific Balances and Transactions

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and shortterm investments with a
maturity of three months or less when acquired. Investments are stated at fair value.

Prepaid ltems

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

Investments
Investments are reported at fair value or estimated fair value.

Restricted Assots

Restricted assets consist of cash and cash equivalents held for the following:

¢ Unspent property taxes levied and held in the Water and Sewer Fund required to be set aside for
future bond principal and interest payments.

» Unspent bond proceeds held in the Municipal Street Fund to be spent on future road projects.
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_ City of South Lyon, Michigan
| Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accountmg Poilmes (Continued)
Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, intangible assets, and infrastructure assets
(e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or
business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined
by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $2,500 and an estimated usefut life in
excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased
or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of
donation.

Infrastructure, buildings, equipment, and vehlcles are depreciated using the stralght-]me method over the
following useful lives:

Depreciable Life -

Years
Wastewater treatment plant and equipment 10-40
Water treatment plant and equipment 10-40
Utility system, buildings, and improvements 7-40
Roads and sidewalks 20-25
Other teols, furniture, and equipment 15-40
Tools, furniture, and equipment 5-15
Office furnishings 5-7
Other tools and equipment 3-7

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond
issuance costs are expensed at the time they are incurred. The General Fund and debt service funds are
generally used to liquidate governmental long-term debt.

Deferred Outfiows/inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represenis a
consumption of net position that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The government-wide statements and proprietary funds
report deferred outflows related to the pension and OPEB plans, as detailed in Notes 9 and 10.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents
an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue) until that time. The government-wide statements .and proprietary funds report
deferred inflows related to the pension and OPEB plans, as detailed in Notes 9 and 10. Unavailable
revenue qualifies for reporting in this category and arises only under a modified accrual basis of
accounting. The General Fund reports unavailable revenue from certain state-shared revenue and opioid
settlement revenue. The Community Development Block Grant Fund reports unavailable revenue from
grant revenue. These amounts are deferred and recogn[zed as an inflow of resources in the period that
the amounts become available.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan:'

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accountmg Policies (Continued)

Net Pasition Flow Assumptron

Sometimes, the City will fund_outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted {e.g., restricted bond or
grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net
position and unrestricted net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a
flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is
the government’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestrlcted net
position is applied.

Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes, the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted
resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the
amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental
fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the ordér in which the resources are
considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted
before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Furthermore, when the components of
unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first,
followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is. applled last.

Fund Balance Paolicies

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The City itself can establish limitations on
the use of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned
fund balance) :

The committed fund balance classification mcludes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes determined by a formal action of the City's highest level of decision-making authority. The City
Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the government that can, by adoption of a
resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed
by the resolution remains in place until a similar action is taken {the adoption of another resolution) to
remove or revise the limitation.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for specific
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The City Council has by resolution
authorized the city manager to assign fund balance. The City Council may also assign fund balance as it
does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in
the subsequent year's appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally exist only
temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an
assignment. Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essentlal fo either remove or revise
a commitment. .

Water and Sewer Tap-in Fees Policy

Based on a city administrative policy amended in May 2022, 80 percent of funds collected for tap-in fees,
developer contributions, or any other payment for a share of a capital improvement (e.g., cost-sharing
fund, special assessments for water and sanitary sewer improvement, etc.) will be contributed to the
water and sanitary sewer capital fund. The water and sanitary sewer capital fund is to be used by both
the water and sanitary sewer departments for capital improvements to the systems. If at any time, the
water and sanitary sewer capital fund is carrying a balance that exceeds more money than is needed for
future planned improvements, the fund balance amounts will be reevaluated and, if necessary,
proportionally reallocated to the related operating budgets to be used in accordance with best practices
recommended by the City's professional service providers. At June 30, 2023, the water and sanitary
sewer capital fund has a balance of $2,635,460.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements

o June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property Tax Revenue

Properties are levied on July 1 and become an enforceable lien at that time. The tax is based on the
taxable valuation of property as of the preceding December 31. Taxes are due on September 30 with the
final collection date of February 28. Taxes are considered delinquent on QOctober 1, at which time
penaltles and interest are assessed.

The City's 2022 property tax revenue was levied and collectible on July 1, 2022 and is recognized as
revenue in the year ended June 30, 2023 when the proceeds of the levy are budgeted and available for.
the fmancmg of operations. .

The 2022 taxable valuation of the City totaled $449 million (a portion of which is abated and a portion of

which is captured by the DDA), on which taxes levied consisted of 12,3500 mills for operating purposes. -
and 3.000 mills for debt service. This resulted in approximately $5.5 million used for operations and $1.3 .

million utilized for debt service. These amounts are recognlzed if the respective general, capital prOJects :
and enterprise fund financial statements as tax revenue. :

Pension

The City offers pensaon benefits to retirees. The City records a net penswn liability for the difference
between the total pension liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan's fiduciary net position.
For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the pension plan and additions to/deductions from the pension plan's fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension plan. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Other Postemglozment Benefit Costs

The City offers a monthly health care stipend to qualified retirees. The City records a net OPEB liability for
the difference between the total OPEB liability calculated by the actuary and the OPEB plan's fiduciary
net position. For the purpose of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the City of South Lyon Other Postemployment Benefits Plan-and additions to/deductions from
the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the sarrie basis as they are reported by
the OPEB plan. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick Leave)

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick and vacation pay
benefits. Limits to accumulations are based on collective bargaining agreements for contract employees
and personnel policies for administrative, nonunion contract employees. Once maximum accumulations
are reached, unused days accumulated beyond that number shall be lost. The payment obligation for
future absences (leave) is based on employee services already rendered. The amount of the obligation
can be reasonably estimated. Sick pay and vacation pay are accrued when incurred in the government-
wide financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only for
employee terminations as of year end. The noncurrent portion {the amount estimated to be used in
subsequent fiscal years) for governmental funds is maintained separately and represents a reconciling
item between the fund and government-wide presentations. Generally, the funds that report each
employee's compensation (the General Fund, Major Road Fund, Local Road Fund, and Water and Sewer
Fund, primarily} are used to liquidate the obllgatlons
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

. :N:otes to Financial Statements

e June: 30, 2023
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Proprietary Funds Opertating Classification '

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenue and expenses generally result from providing. services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of the
Water and Sewer Fund and internal service funds is charges to customers for sales and services. The
Water and Sewer Fund also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover
the cost of connecting new customers to the system, property taxes, and investment income. Operating
expenses for enterprise funds.include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and
depreciation on capital assets. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nhonoperating revenue and expenses,

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make. éstimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ. from those estimates.

Upcoming Accolunting Pronouncement

In June 2022, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 101, Compensated
Absences, which updates the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences under
a unified model. This statement requires that liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for
lsave that has not been used and leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through
noncash means and establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used. It
also updates disclosure requirements for compensated absences. The provisions of this statement are
effective for the City's financial statements for the vear ending June 30, 2025.

Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations in Budgeted Funds

During the year, the Cify:incurred expenditures in the General Fund that were in excess of the amounts
budgeted as follows:

Budget Actual
Debt service - $ 267,434 % 534,868
Transfers : 4000 15,735

The debt service expenditures were over budget in.the amount of $267,434. This was attributed to
prepayment of the July 30, 2023 installment payment on the firetruck that was paid in June 2023.

Transfers were over budget in the amount of $11,735. This was attributable to the $15,735 transfer made
for payment of the Sanitary Sewer System Easement and Deposit of Estimated Just Compensation for
construction of a new manhole, maintenance, and reconstruction of the existing sanitary sewer line and
extension of the sanitary sewer main.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan . L
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued)

Construction Code Fees

The City oversees building construction in accordance with the State's Construction Code Act, including
inspection of building construction and renovation to ensure compliance with the building codes. The City
charges fees for these services. The law requires that collection of these fees be used only for
consiruction code costs, including an allocation of estimated overhead costs. A summary of the current
year activity and the cumulative surplus or shortfall generated since January 1, 2000 is as follows:

Cumulative shortfall at July 1, 2022 . $ (999,213}
Current year permit revenue _ 502,699
Related expenses: - o
Direct costs ) $ . 450,934
Estimated indirect costs 19,389 468,323
Current year surpl_us_ S 33,376
Cumulative shortfall at June 30, 2023 E $ (965,837)

Note 3 - Deposits and Investments

Michigar Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes local
governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions,
and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The law also allows investments outside
the state of Michigan when fully insured. The local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other
direct obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase
agreements; bankers' acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two
highest classifications that matures no more than 270 days after the date of purchase; obligations of the
State of Michigan or its political subdivisions that are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds
composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by local umts of government in
Michigan. :

The other postemployment benefits fund is also authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as
amended, to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies,
annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, real estate (if the trust
fund's assets exceed $250 million), debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local
government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles. '

The City has designated three banks for the deposit of its funds. The mvestment policy adopted by the
City Council in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized investment in bonds and securities
of the United States government and bank accounts and CDs and such obllgatlons bonds, and securities
permltted by the statutes of the State of Michigan.

The City's cash and investments are subject to custodial credlt rlsk which is examined in more detail
below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits may not be returned
to it. The City does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the City had bank
deposits of approximately $30,960,000 {checking and savings accounts) that were uninsured and
uncollateralized. The component unit did not have any bank deposits that were uninsured and
uncollateralized. The City believes that, due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC
insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements

_ . “June 30, 2023
Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Interost Rate RJSk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest
rates. The City's investment policy does not restrict investment maturities other than commercial paper,
which can oniy be purchased with a 270-day maturity,

Less Than 1 .
Investment Fair Value Year . . 1-5Years

Oakland-C_ounty Local Government Investment Pool $ 1,000,000 $ Co- - $ 1,000,000
Credit Risk _
State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized

statistical rating organizations. The City has no investment policy that would further limit its investment
choices. As of year end, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are

as follows:
Rating
Investrnent Fair Value Rating Organization
Oakland County Local Government Investment Pocl $ 1,000,000 Not rated Not rated

Fair Value Measurements

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used fo measure the fair
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets, Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value
hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the valuation. The City's assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair
value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability. The City
does not have any investments within the fair value hierarchy above and only has an investment
measured at fair value using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient.

Investments. m Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share

The General Fund and Other Postemployment Benefits Fund holds shares or-interests in an investment
pool where the fair value of the investments is measured on a recurring basis using net asset value per
share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a practical expedient.

At the year ended June 30, 2023, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of those
investments are-as follows:

. Redemption
. Unfunded Frequency, if Redemption
Fair Value. Commitments Eligible Notice Period
MERS RHFV Total Market Portfolio $ 288,865 % - N/A N/A
Oakland County Local Government
Investment Pool 1,000,000 - N/A N/A

The MERS RHFV Total Market Portfolic is a fully diversified portfolio combining traditional stocks and
bonds with alternative asset classes, including real estate, private equity, and commodities. The objective
is to provide current income and capital appreciation while minimizing the volatility of the capital markets.
MERS manages the asset allocation and monitors the underlying investment managers of the MERS
RHFV Total Market Portfolio.
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Note 3 - Deposﬂs and Investments (Continued)

" The Cakland County Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is not registered with the Securltles and
Exchange Commission (SEC) and does not issue a separate report. The pool does not meet the
requirements under GASB 79 fo report its value for financial reporting purposes at amortized costs.
Accordingly, the investment is reported at fair value. The fair value of the position in the pool is not the
same as the value of the pool shares because the pool redeems shares at $1 per share, regardless of
current fair value,

Note 4 - Capital Assets

Capital asset activity of the City's govei'nmental and business-type activities was as follows:

Governmental Activities

Balance Disposals and Balance
July 1, 2022 Additions Reclassifications ~ June 30, 2023
Capital assets not being . . .
depreciated: :
Land . ' $ 3,436,792 § - % - 3% 3,436,792
Construction in progress. . - 758,628 - 758,628
Subtotal . 3,436,792 758,628 - | 4,195.420
Capital assets being depreciated: :
Roads and sidewalks 24,293,386 151,383 - 24,444 769
Buildings and improvements 10,196,672 1,260,617 - 11,457,189
Furniture and equipment 6,899,278 1,883,874 (625,000) 8,158,152
Subtotal . 41,389,336 3,295,774 {625,000) 44,080,110
Accumulated depreciation:
Roads and sidewalks 18,550,052 912,912 - 19,469,964
Buildings and improvements 5,814,458 365,410 - 6,179,868
Furniture and equipment 5,473,792 550,128 (625,000) 5,398,920
Subtotal 29,838,302 1,835,450 (625,000) 31,048,752
Net governmental activities
capifal assets being
depreciated 11,551,034 1,460,324 - 13,011,358
Net governmental activities
capital assets $ 14987826 $ 2,218,952 § - %  17,208778
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Business-type Activities

Balance Disposals and Balance
July 1, 2022 Additions Reclassifications June 30, 2023
Capital assets not being '
depreciated. :
Land _ $ 147,317 % 9,525 § - % 156,842
Construction in progress - 13,903 - 13,903
Subtotal 147,317 23,428 - 170,745
Capital assets being depreciated:
Wastewater treatment plant and
equipment . 33,661,241 44 445 . - 34,005,687
Water treatment plant and
equipment 6,503,693 598,655 ' - 7,102,348
Utility systems, building, and
improvements 19,278,140 380,675 - 19,658,815
Other tools, furniture, and '
equipment 1,413,485 5,000 - 1,418,485
Subtotal 61,156,659 . 1,028,776 - 62,185,335
Accumulated depreciation - Total
water and sewer 34,346,788 - 1,425,086 - 35,771,854
Net business-type activities
capital assets being : ‘
depreciated . 26,809,771 (396,290) - 26,413,481 -
Net business-type activities . ’
capital assets "% 26,957,088 $ (372,862) $ - $ 26,584,226

Depreciation expense was charged to prdgrams of the primary government as follows:

Governmental activities: : ’
General government $ 138,086

Public safety 395,907
Public warks 1,234,523
Recreation and cuiture 66,934
Total governmental activities $ 1,835,450
-Business-type activities - Water and sewer 3 1,425,066

Note 5 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers

The composition of interfund balances is as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
General Fund - Water and Sewer Fund $ 261,058
Major Road Fund 44 941
Nonmajor governmental funds 73,611
Totat o $ 379,610
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These balances result from the time lag between the dates that goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments
between funds are made.

[nterfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements are composed of the follo_wihg':-

Paying Fund (Transfer Out) ‘Receiving Fund (Transfer In) ~ Amount
Major Road Fund Nonmajor governmental funds % 100,000
General Fund Water and Sewer Fund ' 15,735

The transfer relates to a contribution from the Major Road Fund-to the Local Road Fund in accordance
with Michigan Public Act 51, as amended.

The transfer from the General Fund to the Water and Sewer Fund relates to funds received by the
General Fund for the Sanitary Sewer Easement that were then transferred to the Water and Sewer Fund.

Note 6 - Long-term Debt

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 can be summarized as follows:

Governmental Aclivities

Beginning Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance One Year
Bonds and contracts payable -
Direct borrowings and d1rect
placements:
2021 Ladder truck |nstallment
contract $ 1,250,000 $ - % (483,087) § 766,913 3 -
2023 Unlimited Tax General
Obligation Bond - 7,625,000 - 7,525,000 445,000
Total direct borrowings
and direct placements
principal outstanding 1,250,000 7,525,000 (483,087) 8,291,913 445,000
Unamortized bond premiums - 1,419,544 (58,178) 1,361,366 -
Compensated absences 434,164 195,548 (224,725} .. 404,987 202,500
' Total governmental
activities long-term
debt $ 1,684,164 § 9,140,092 (765,200)°8 . 10,058,266 $ 647,500
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Business-type Activities

Beginning ' Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance One Year
Borids and contracts payable -
Direct borrowings and direct
placements:
General obligations 3 4147,379 % - % (1,000,000) % 3,147,379 % 1,025,000
"~ Revenue bonds 1,745,000 - (125,000) 1,620,000 130,000
Total direct borrowings
and direct placements
principal outstanding 5,802,379 - (1,125,000) 4,767,379 1,155,000
Compensated absences 68,638 37,075 {34,483) 71,230 35,600
Total business-type .
activities long-term
debt -3 5,861,017 § 37,075 §  (1,159,483) $ 4,838,609 $ 1,190,600

General Obligation Bonds and Contracts

The City issues general obligation bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of major capital
facilities. General obligations have been issued for both governmental and business-type activities.
General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. County
contractual agreements and installment purchase agreements are also general obligations of the City.
General obligations outstanding at June 30, 2023 are as follows: :

Purpose Year [ssued Interest Rates Maturing Qutstanding

Governmental Activities

Firetruck installment purchase o
agreement : 2021 2.29% 2027 3 766,913

2023 Unlimited Tax General .
Obligation Bond C 2023 5.00 - 6.00% 2033 7,525,000
Business-type Activities
State of Michigan Revolving Fund 2003 2.50% - 2025 3 3,147,379
Revenue Bonds '

Revenue bonds involve a pledge of specific income derived from the acquired or constructed assets and
to pay debt service. Business-type activities utilize revenue bonds to finance the water and sewer system. -
During fiscal year 2013, the City issued revenue bonds. in the. amount of $5,300,000. These bonds are
funded by the Drinking Water Revolving Fund, and the City received a loan forgiveness to the extent of
$2,650,000. The City has pledged substantially all revenue generated through the Water and Sewer
Fund, net of operating expenses, to repay the water and sewer revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds
provided financing for the construction of the water and sewer system. The remaining principal and
interest to be paid on the bonds is approximately $1,873,000. During the current year, operating income
of the system (excluding depreciation expense) was $845,422,

Purpose " Year Issued Interest Rates Maturing Cutstanding

Business-type Activities

Drinking Water Revolving Fund
Program #7314-01 2013 2.50% 2034 3 1,620,000
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Debt Service Requirements to Maturity

Total interest expense for the year related to governmental activities was approxima'tely $14"_I ,000. Total
interest incurred related to business-type activities for the year approximated $127,000. Annual debt
service requirements to maturity for the above bonds and note obligations are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Direct Borrowmgs and Direct Direct Borrowings and Direct
Placements - - Placements
Years Ending
June 30 Prinmpal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 445,000 3 491956 § 936,956 $ ° 1,155,000 $ 106,372 § 1,261,372
2025 804,872 423,100 1,227,972 1,185,000 77,184 1,262,184
2026 855,594 388,240 1,243,834 1,207,379 47,280 1,254,659
2027 911,447 352,387 1,263,834 140,000 30,500 170,500
2028 710,000 307,400 1,017,400 145,000 27,000 172,000
2029-2033 4,565,000 837,000 5,402,000 770,000 79,375 849,375
Thereafter - - - 165,000 4125 169,125
Total $ 8,291,913 § 2,800,083 $ 11,091,996 $ 4767379 § 371,836 3 5,139,215

Note 7 - Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors and omissions, and
employee injuries (workers' compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to employees. The City
has purchased commercial insurance for workers' compensation, medical, health, life, and disability
claims and participates in the Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority's state pool for claims
relating to general law enforcement, emergency medical, public errors and omissions, and auto liabilities.

Setfled claims relating to the commercial insurance have not exceeded the amount of insurance coverage
in any of the past three fiscal years.

The Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority's State Pool program (the "Authority") operates as a
commen risk-sharing management program for local units of government in Michigan. Member premiums
are used to purchase excess insurance coverage and to pay member claims in excess of deductible
amounts. A portlon of the excess insurance coverage is underwritten by the Authority itself.

Note 8 - Joint V_entures

The City is a member of the Resource Recovery and Recycling Authority of Southwest Oakland County
{RRRASOC) and the South Lyon Area Recreation Authority (SLARA). RRRASOC is incorporated by the
cities of Farmington, Farmington Hills, Novi, South Lyon, Southfield, Walled Lake, and Wixom, Michigan;
the Village of Milford, Michigan; and the Charter Township of Milford. SLARA is incorporated by the City
of South Lyon, Michigan and the charter townships of Lyon and Green Oak. The City appoints one
member to each of the joint ventures’ governing boards, which then approve the annual budgets. The
joint ventures receive their operating revenue from member contributions and miscellaneous income.

The City is unaware of any circumstances that would cause an additional benefit or burden to the
participating governments in the near future. Complete financial statements for RRRASOC can be
obtained from RRRASOC's office at 20000 West 8 Mile Road, Southfield, Ml 48075 and for SLARA at
SLARA's office at 23333 Griswold Road, Suite 100, South Lyon, Ml 48178,

During the year, the City contributed $22,308 to RRRASOC and $22,492 to SLARA. The City reported

equity interest in SLARA of $313,407 as of June 30, 2023 and the City has no definable interest in
RRRASOC.
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Plan Description

The City provides retiree health care benefits to eligible employees upon retirement in accordance with

establishad labor contracts. Under terms of the contracts, the City provides a flat monthly stipend up to

_ age 65 to be used to supplement insurance costs incurred for postemployment health care benefits. The

. benefits are provided through a single-employer plan administered by the South Lyon City Council. The

financial statements of the single-employer plan are included in these financial statements as an other
postemployment benefits fund (a fiduciary fund).

. Management of the plan is the responsibility of the City's pension board, which consists of seven
members - three elected by plan members; three ‘appointed by the City; and the city treasurer, who
serves as an ex officio member.

- Benefits Provided

All employees retiring under reguiar (normal), work-related disability, or workers' compensation retirement

are eligible to receive a stipend for health care coverage until age 65. Police regular (normal) retirees are
required to have 25 years of service fo be eligible for the employer stipend.-General retirees have no
service requirement. Eligible police retirees from the POAM union receive a stipend of up to $700 per
month for health care premiums. Eligible police retirees from the POLC union receive a stipend of up to
$900 per month for health care premiums. Eligible general retirees receive a stipend of up to $500 per
month for health care insurance premiums. To the extent-the-stipend-exceeds-the-menthly-health-care—-—
premiums, the remainder may be used to offset spousal health care insurance premiums.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

The following members were covered by the contractual benefit terms:

Date of member count - - June 30, 2023
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries burrently receiving henefits 3
Active plan members .. | _ 43
Total plan merhbers 46
Contributions

Retiree health care costs are funded by the City on a pay-as-you-go basis. The City has no obligation to
make contributions in advance of when the insurance premiums are due for payment, except for new
employees hired after July 1, 2018. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City paid
postemployment health care stipends of $30,559. In addition, the City made contributions of
approximately $72,000 during the year ended June 30, 2023,

Total OPEB Liability

The June 30, 2023 total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30,
2022, which used update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to June 30, 2023.
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Changes in the net OPEB liability during the measuremient yearWere as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total OPEB Plan Net Net OPEB
Changes in Net QPEB Liability Liability Position Liability
Balance at July 1, 2022 $ . 645690 & 194,765 § 450,825
Changes for the year: e
Service cost - 23722 - 23,722
Interest o 48,099 - 48,099
Differences between expected and actual i
experience L (811) - (811)
Contributions - Employer - - 102,559 (102,559)
Net investment income B - 22,562 (22,562)
Benefit payments . (30,559) {30,559) -
Administrative expenses o - (462) 462
""Net changes 40,451 94,100 {b3,649)
Balance at June 30, 2023 3 686,141 § 288,865 $ . 397,276

The plan's fiduciary net position represents 42.1 percent of the total OPEB liability.

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense of $43,202.

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB from the following sources:

. Deferred Deferred
_ Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 99,560 $ (67,664)
Changes in assumptions 43,341 (141,078)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan
investments 15,283 -
Total $ 158,184 3 {208,742)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as foliows: -

Years Ending

June 30 Amount
2024 $ (11,437)
2025 (11,437)
2026 (11,392)
2027 (18,014)
2028 832
Thereafter 890
Total $ . (50,558)
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Actuanal Assumptions

The total OPEB ligbility was determined by an actuanal valuation as of June 30; 2022 which was used to
update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to fiscal year June 30, 2023. The June 30, 2022
actuarial valuation used an inflation assumption of 3.00 percent; a health care cost trend rate of 7.50
percent, decreasing 0.5 percent per year to an ultimate rate of 4.5 percent for 2029 and later years; and
the SOA Pub-2010 total dataset mortality tables using Scale MP-2021. In addition; active employees who
currently have no coverage are assumed to elect no coverage at retirement and have been excluded
from the GASB valuation.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPER liability was 7.35 percent. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that city contributions will be made at rates equa] to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate.

Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was apphed to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total OPEB liability.

Investment Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return. (expected returns, net of
OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
arithmetic real rates of return as of the June 30, 2023 measurement date for each major asset class
included in the OPEB plan's target asset allocatlon as disclosed in the investment footnote, are
summarized in the following table: .

Long-term
Expected Real
Asset Class Rate of Return
Global equity 450 %
Global fixed income 2.00
Private investments 7.00

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.35
percent, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease  Discount Rate  Point Increase
{(6.35%) (7.35%) (8.35%)
Net OPEB:IiabiIity of the plan - % 438,181 § 397,276 § 358,989
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' Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the health care cost trend rate
of 7 percent, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a health
care cost trend rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

Currenf Health
1 Percentage Care Cost Trend 1 Percentage

Point Decrease Rate (7% Point Increase
(6% Decreasing Decreasingto (8% Decreasing
to 3.5%) 4.5%) to 5.5%)
Net OPEB liability of the plan $ 355914 $ - 397,276 § 443226

Investment Policy

The OPEB plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended
by the pension board by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the OPEB board to pursue an
investment strategy that manages risk through the prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad
selection of distinct asset. classes. The OPEB plan's investment policy discourages the use of cash
equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset class
allocations over short time spans. The following was the OPEB plan's adopted asset allocation policy as
of June 30, 2023;

AssetClass -~ =~ . Target Allocaticn
Global equity o 60.00 %
Global fixed income T . 20.00
Private investments I 20.00

Total _ : 100.00 %
Rate of Return '

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return on.OPEB plan investments,
net of OPEB plan investment expense, was an investment gain of 7.46 percent. The money-weighted
rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing
amounts actually invested.

Note 10 - Pension Plan
Plan Description

The City of South Lyon, Michigan participates in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan (MERS} that covers all full-
time employees of the City. MERS was established as a statewide public employee pension plan by the
M|ch|gan Legislature under PA 135 of 1845 and is administered by a nine-member retirement board.
MERS issues a publicly available financial report, which includes the financial statements and required -
supplemental information of this defined benefit plan. This report can be obigined at
www.mersofmich.com or in writing to MERS at 1134 Mumcmpal Way, Lansing, MI 48917.

Benefits Provided

The plan provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. PA 427 of
1984, as amended, established and amends the benefit provisions of the participants in MERS.

37



City of Squth Lyofn, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements

o June 30, 2023
Note 10 - Pension Plan (Continued) |

The MERS plan covers full-time employees at the City, including AFSCME, nonunion, pohce patrolmen,
police command, and clerical employees. The MERS defined benefit plan is closed to new entrants. New
employees are eligible o participate in the MERS defined contribution plus plan.

Retirement benefits are calculated as 2.5 percent of the employee's final 5-year average compensation
times the employee’s years of service, with a maximum of 80 percent of final average compensation.
Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at an unreduced benefit at age 55 with 25 years of
service or a reduced benefit at age 50 with 25 years of service or age 55 with 15 years of service.
Deferred retirement benefits vest after 10 years of credited service (8 years for nonunion employees) but
are not paid until the date retirement would have occurred had the member remained an employee.
Employees are eligible for nonduty disability benefits after 10 years of service (8 years for nonunion
employees) and for duty-related disability benefits upon hire. Disability retirement benefits are determined
in the same manner as retirement benefits but are payable immediately and, 'if duty-related, without the
application of an actuarial reduction for retirement before age 60. An employee whao leaves city service
may Withdraw his or her contributions, plus any accumulated interest.

Beriefit terms, within the parameters established by MERS, are generally established and amended by
authority of the City Council, generally after negotiations of these terms with the affected unions. Police
employee benefit terms may be subject to binding arbitration in certain circumstances.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At the December 31, 2022 measurement date, the following members were covered by the benefit terms:

inactive plan members or benefi c.larles currently receiving henefits 34
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 7
Active plan members . 27
Total employees covered by the plan 68
Contributions

State law requires public employers to make pension contributions in accordance with an actuarial
valuation. MERS hires an independent actuary for this purpose and annually contributes the amount
determined to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The City's required contribution is ‘determined after
consideration of the required contribution rate of employees. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the
average active employee contribution rate was 2.21 percent of annual pay. The City pays a flat amount
each month for its required contribution, except for the command division. Monthly payment amounts for
the various divisions range from $3,346 to $20,397 per month plus an amount for the command division
contribution at a rate of 28.88 percent.

Net Pension Liability

The City has chosen to use the December 31 measurement date as its measurement date for the nat
pension liability. The June 30, 2023 fiscal year end reported net pension liability was determined using a
measure of the total pension liability and the pension net position as of the December 31, 2022
measurement date. The December 31, 2022 measurement date total pension liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation performed as of that date.
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Changes' in the net pension liability during the measurement year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Net- - :Net Pension
Changes in Net Pension Liability Liability Pasition : Liability
Balance at December 31, 2021 _ '$ 20,886,151 $ 15196692 §. 5,689,459
Changes for the year: : -
- Service cost. _ o 253,606 - 253,606
~Interest 1,492 596 - 1,492,596
- Changes in benefits 3,053 - 3,053
Differences between.expected and actual
experience 119,235 - 119,235
Contributions - Employer - 777,896 (777.896)
Contributions - Employee - 55,226 (55,228)
Net investment loss - (1,675,041) 1,675,041
Benefit payments, including refunds (850,872) (850,872) -
Administrative expenses - {27,999) 27,989
Net changes . 1,017 618 (1,720,790} 2,738,408
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 21803769 § 13475902 § 8,427,867

Pension Expense and Deferred Outﬂows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to Pensions

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $1,561,885. At June 30,
2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of .
Resources Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 79,490 $ {108,308)
Changes in assumptions 267,364 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan

investments 1,296,404 -
Employer contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date 390,983 -

Total 3 2,034,221 $ {108,306)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows (note that employer contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will reduce the net pension liability and, therefore, will not be included in future
pension expense):

Years Ending
June 30 Amount
2024 $ 311,377
2025 274,438
2026 394 109
2027 555,028
" Total 1,534 952
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Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined using an inflation
assumption of 2.50 percent, assumed salary increases (including inflation) of 3.00 percent, an investment
rate of return (gross of investment expenses) of 7.25 percent, and the Pub-2010 mortality tables. The
assumptions were applied to all periods included in the measurement. All assumptions used, except for
the investment rate of return, are based on an experience study conducted for the period from 2014-
2018.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25 percent. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the
current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate.

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

Investment Rate of Return

The longterm expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net
of pension plan investment expense and inflation} are developed for each major asset class. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return as of the December 31, 2022 measurement date for each
major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation are summarized in the following

table:
Long-term
Expected Real
Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return
Global equity 60.00 % 450 %
Global fixed income 20.00 2.00
Private investments 20.00 7.00

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25
percent, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is 1 percentage point lower (6.25 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25 percent) than the
current rate: C ; '

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease  Discount Rate  Point Increase
{6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)
Net pension liakility of the City - % 11,000,098 % 8,427,867 $ 6,188,775
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
Note 10 - Pension Plan {(Continued)
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the plan's fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued financial
report found at www.mersofmich.com. The plan's fiduciary net position has been determined on the same
basis used by the plan. The plan uses the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual
basis of accounting. Investments are stated at fair value. Contribution revenue is recorded as
contributions are due, pursuani to legal requirements. Benefit payments and refunds of employee
contributions are recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms:

No‘te 11 - Tax Abatements

The City uses the industrial facilities tax exemption (PA 198 of 1974) to enter into agreements with local
businesses to construct new industrial facilities or rehabilitate historical facilities. Under the program, the
City grants reductions of 50 percent of the property tax bill for new property (or it can freeze taxable
values for rehabilitation properties) for up.fo 12 years.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City abated $11,978 of taxes under this program. There are
no provisions to recapture taxes; however, the abatement may be eliminated if taxes are not paid timely.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

R‘équ’ired Supplementary Information
- Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund

Revenue
~ Property taxes
- “Intergovernmental
. Charges for services
- Fines and forfeitures
" -.Licenses and permits
‘Investment income
.Other revenue

Total revenue

Expenditures
Current services:
General government
Public safety:
Police
Fire
Ambulance
Public works:
Public works
Cemetery
Recreation and culture:
Parks and recreation
Cable television production
Historical
Cultural arts
. Public transportation
. Debt service

Total expenditures

Other Financing (Uses) Sources
Transfers out
Sale of capital assets

Total other financing sources
Net Change in Fund Balance '

Fund Balance - Beginning of year

Fund Balance - End of year

See notes to required subplementary information.

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
Original Amended Amended

Budget Budget Actual Budget

5641935 § 5641935 § 5,229,586 $ {412,3489)

1,412,780 1,412,780 1,803,608 390,828
75,000 75,000 93,312 18,312
15,150 15,150 16,653 1,503
606,000 608,000 638,812 32812
1,225 201,225 258,658 57,433

287,224 287,224 211,232 (75,992)

8,039,314 8,239,314 8,251,861 12,547

1,756,522 1,843,924 1,786,439 57485

3,279,633 3,288,633 3,088,603 200,030
808,462 2.398,462 2,385,970 12,492
5,680 5,680 : 725 4,955

1,056,461 1180,617 - 1,145,854 34,763
153,131 153,131 - 98,174 54,957
462,365 462,365 . 260,584 201,781
13.925 13 925 1,338 12,587
51,080 51,080 31,913 19,167
5,200 5,200 2,106 3,094
90,000 101,584 101,584 -
267,434 267 434 534.868 (267 ,434)

8.039,893 9,772,035 9,438,158 333,877
(4,000) (4,000) (15,735) (11,735)
20,000 20,000 22,500 2,500
16,000 16,000 6,765 (9,235)
15,421 (1,516,721)  (1,179,532) 337,189

7,253 182 7,253,182 7,253,182 -

7,268,603 $§ 5,736,461 § 6,073,650 § 337,189
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City of South Lyon, Michi_gan

Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Fund
- Major Road Fund

: Y_ea'r- Ended June 30, 2023

Variance with

Qriginal Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue .
Intergovernmental R 3 823,540 $ 823540 % 861,944 $ 38,404
Investment income : 250 250 639 389
Total revenue 823,790 823,790 862,583 38,793
Expenditures - Current services - Community
maintenance and development - Public works 401,802 401,802 310,059 91,743
Other Financing Uses - Transfers to other _ :
funds (100,000) (100,000)- :  {100,000) -
Net Change in Fund Balance 321,988 321,888 452,524 130,536
Fund Balance - Beginning of year 3,499,654 3,499,654 _ 3,499,654 -
Fund Balance - End of year $ 3821642 § 3821642 § 3,952,178 § 130,536

See notes to required supplementary information. 44



City of South Lyon, Michigan

~ Required Suppleméntary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Last Nine Fiscal Years
(Schedule is Built Prospectively upon Implementation of GASE 68)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2018 2015
Total Pension Liahility C
Service cost $ 253,606 § 245,507 § 242132 & 238655 § 268,288 § 274,113 § 283,687 § 256,313 § 255,907
Interast’ 1,482,506 1,483,631 1,350,131 1,328,881 1,257,029 1,199,100 1,141,285 1,084,707 1,004,596
Changes in benefit terms 3,053 435 719 (851) (656} (6,932) {270) - -
Differences betwsen expected and ) . X
actual experience 119,235 (324917} 240,371 (148,563) 108,840 (117,223 {113,562) {104,288) -
Changes in assumplians - 802,092 535,275 549,607 - - - 707,441 -
Benefit payments, including refunds | . (850,872) (872,344) {881,574) (767,720} (652 600) (591,459} (575,867) (578,810) {485,354}
Net Change In Total Pensicn Liabllity -1,017.618 1:314,494 1,487,054 1,200,679 : 978,801 47,500 735,2?3 1,345,362 775,148
Total Pensicn Liakility - Beginning of year . 20,886,151 19,571,657 18,084,603 16,883,924 ) 15,805,023 15,147,424 14,412 151 13,085,789 12,291,640
Total Pensicn Liabllity - End of ysar $. 21,903,769 § 20,886151 % 19,571,657 § 18,084,603 % 16,883,924 § 15,905,023 % 15,147,424 § 14,412,151 § 13,066,789
Plan Flduclary Net Position
Gontibutions - Emplayer s 777806 % 675,495 5 606,867 $ 51,677 § 558,154 § 520,687 § 470,446 3 420267 § 417,111
Contributions - Employee E6,226 44,336 47,257 47,115 45,618 34,784 29,301 27,094 27,802
Net investment (loss) income (1,675,041} 1,827,109 1,705,839 1,466,600 (447 680) 1,332498 1,035,110 {140,989) 562,278
Administrative expenses {27,509} {21,628} {24,293) (25,284} {22,001) {21,070} (20,433) {20,522) (20,698}
-Bensfit payments, including refunds {BED,B72) (872,344 (881,574} (767,720} (652,500} (591,450} {575,867} (578.810) {485,354
Net Changa in Plan Fiduciary Nat

Positlon . {1,720,790) 1,657,974 1,454,196 1,302,388 (517,511} 1,284,440 938,557 (292,940) 501,139
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Baginning of

year 15,196,692 13,538,718 12,084,522 10,782,134 11,289,645 10,015,205 9,076,648 9,368,588 8,868,448
Plan Fiduclary Met Position - End of year 3_% $ 15,196,692 LM $ 12,084,527 Lm $ 11,200,645, § 10,015,205 § 9,076,648 § 9,369,588
City's Net Pensieon Llability - Ending $ 8,427,867 § 5,660,459 $ 6,032,930 '5 6,000,061 % 6,101,730 § 4,605,378 5 5,132,218 § 5,335,503 § 3,697,201
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a X :

Percentage of Total Pensicn Liablllty 61.52 % T2.76 % 69.18 % 66.82 % 63.86 % 71.04 % 66.92 % 62.98 % 7171 %
Coverad Payrell $ 2233252 § 2345598 § 2385710 8 2,321,141 § 2,588,286 % 2643114 § 2725500 §. 2,533,242 § 2,528,331
Clty's Net Pension Liability as a ) X

Percentage of Coverad Payroll L 37738 % 242.25 % 25502 % 258.50 % 23575 % 174.24 % 18B.30 % 21062 % 146822 %
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Pension Contributions

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Years Ended June 30

2023 2022 2021 2020 | 2018 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially determined contibution $ 777674 $ 674,370 $ 603,057 § 677,283 § 586,762 § 549,604 § 501,517 $ 435641 $ 410,024 § 405,981
Cantributions in relation 1o the .
actuarially determined

contribution 777,674 674,370 603,057 577,283 586,762 549,604 501,517 435,641 410,024 405,981
‘Contribution Deficiency $ - % -3 - $ -8 - § - $ -8 - 8 -8 -
" Covered Payroll $ 2,233,252 § 2,348,598 $2,365710 $2,321,141 $2,588,286 § 2,643,114 $2.,725500 $2,533,242 $2,528,331 5 2.472,856
Contributions as a Percentage of . .

Covered Payroll 34.82 % 28.71 % 2549 % 2487 % 2267 % 2079 % 18.40 % 17.20 % 16.22 % 16.42 %

Notes to Schedule of Pension Contributions )
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31, which is 18 months prior to the beginning of the fiscal
year in which the contributions are required.

Methods and assumplions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortizatior method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amartization period 18 years
Assat valuation method S-year smoothed market
Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increase 3.00 percent average, including inflation
Investment rate of return - Net of 7.35 percent
administrative expenses
Refirement age Experience-based tables of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility condition
Mortality Pub-2010 Mortality Tables
Other information Nane

See notes to required supplementary information. 46



City of South Lybn, Michigan

‘Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Total OPEB Liability

Service cost

Interest

Changes in benefit terms

Differences between expected
and actual experience

Changes. in assumptions

Benefit payments, including
refunds -

Net Change in Total OPEB
Llablllty

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning
of year

Total OPEB Liability - End of
year

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer
Net investment income (loss)
Administrative expenses
Benefit payments

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

Plan Fiduciary: Net Position -
Beginning of year

Plan Fiduciary Net Position -
End of year

Net OPEB Liability - Ending

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of Total OPEB
Liability

Covered-employee Payroll

Net OPEB Liability as a
Percentage of Covered-
employee Payroli

Last Six Fiscal Years
{Schedule is Built Prospectlvely upon Implementation of GASB 75)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
$ 23722 8 23561 $ 42275 § 28071 $ 23545 $ 28,001
48,099 42265 19,156 19,711 18637 21,877
- - 37,742 - - -
(811) 29,863 1,061 84734 38510  (167,358)
- 10,744 (195,900) 42,861 13,697 (9,871)
(30,559) = (24,011)  (37.653)  (24,332) _ (13,622) _  (9,000)
40451 82422  (183,319) 151,045 80,767  (136,351)
645,600 . 563,268 _ 696587 _ 545542 _ 464,775 _ 601,126
$ 686,141 § 645,690 § 563,268 § 696,587 $ 545,542 § 464,775
$ 102,559 § 94,011 § 180,650 § - % -3 -
22,562 (19,896) 2,127 - - -
(462) (334) (129) - - -
(30,559) _ (24,011) _ (37.653) _ - - -
94,100 49,770 144,995 - - -
194,765 __ 144,995 - - - -
$ 288,865 § 194,765 § 144,995 § - $ - § -
$ 397,276 § 450,925 $ 418,273 § 696,587 $ 545,542 $ 464,775
4210% 3016% 2574 % - % - % - %

$3,306,410 $2,906,807 $2,855,707 $2,633,383 $2,705,916 $2,566,424

12.02 %

See notes to required supplementary information.
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City of South Lyon, Michigan |
! Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of OPEB Contributions

Last Six Fiscal Years
(Schedule is Built Prospectlvely upon Implementation of GASB 75)
Years Ended June 30

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018*

Actuarially determined contribﬁtion $ 63487 3% 60,:192 $ 78997 $ 59341 $ 61,253 % -
Contributions in relation to the n
actuarially determmed

contribution ' 72,000 70,000 142,997 - .4: . -
Contribution Excess . _
{Deficiency) . $ 8533 § 9808 $§ 64,000 $ (59,341)$% (61,253)% - -
Covered-employee Payroll $3,306,410 $2,906,807 $2,855,707 $2,633,383 $2,705,916 $2,566,424
Contributions as a Percentage : :

of Covered-employee Payroll 2.18 % 2.41 % 5.01 % - % % - %

*No actuarially determined contribution was calculated for fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.
Notes to Schedule of Contributions
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, one year
prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are reporied.

Methods and assumpiions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method - Level dollar amortization - C[osed

Remaining amortization period 29 years

Asset valuation method Market value

Inflation 3.00 percent

Health care cost trend rates 7.5 percent decreasing 0.5. percent per year to a 4.50 percent long-term rate

Salary increase . 3.75 percent average, mclud;ng inflation

Investment rate of return 7.35 percent

Mortality Pub-2010 mortality tables W|th Scale MP-2021 generational mortality
improvement

See notes to required supplementary information. 48



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of OPEB Investment Returns

. Last Three Fiscal Years
- Years Ended June 30

2023 ' 2022 2021

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment e
expense 748 % (8.24)% 1.26 %

*GASB Statement No. 74 was implemented in fiscal year 2017, but the City established the OPEB trust in fiscal
year 2021. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years of data will be presented.

See notes to required supplementary information. 49



City of South Lyon, Michigan

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

o June 30, 2023
Budgetary Information

Annual budgeis-_are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America for the General Fund and all special revenue funds.

The annual budget is prepared by the city manager and submitted to the City Council at its meeting nearest the
third Monday in April of each year. The budget is adopted by the City Council no later than the second regular
City Council meeting in May. Subsequent amendments are approved by the City Council. Amendments may be
made by the City Council up until the last day of the fiscal year. The budget has been adopted on an activity
basis; expenditures at this level in excess of amounts budgeted are a violation of Michigan law.

Unexpended appropriations lapse at year end. The amount of encumbrances outstanding at June 30, 2023 has
not been calculated. During the current year, the budget was amended in a legally permissible manner.

A comparison of the actual results of operations to the budgeted amounts (at the level of control adopted by the
City Council} for the General Fund is presented as required supplementary information. Information comparing
other special revenue funds activity to the respective budgets can be obtained at city hall.

Pension Infermation

Changes in Assumptions

June 30, 2020 - The beginning of year total pension liability was based on a s_ingfe discount rate of 8.00 percent, -
and the end of year total pension liability was based on a single discount rate of 7.60 percent.

June 30, 2021 - The beginning of year total pension liability was based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, and the’
end of year total pension liability was based on the Pub-2010 mortality tables.

June 30, 2022 - The beginning of year total pension liability was based on a single discount rate of 7.60 percé'nt,
and the end of year total pension liability was based on a single discount rate of 7.25 percent.

OPEB Infoimation
Changes in Assumptions

June 30, 2019 - The'be'gin:hing of year total OPEB Iiability-waé based on a single discount rate of 3.87 percent,
and the end of year total OPEB liability was based on a single discount rate of 3.51 percent.

June 30, 2020 - The beginning of year total OPEB liability was based on a single discount rate of 3.51 percent,
and the end of year total OPEB liability was based on a single discount rate of 2.68 percent. In addition, the
beginning of year total OPEB liability was based on the SOA RPH-2017 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully
generational using Scale MP-2017, and the end of year total OPEB liability was based on a variation of the SOA
Pub-2010 Mortality Tables. ' -

June 30, 2021 - The beginning of year total OPEB liability was based on a single discount rate of 2.66 percent,
and the end of year total OPEB liability was based on a single discount rate of 7.35 percent.

June 30, 2022 - The beginning of year total OPEB liability was based on the Pub-2010 Mortality tables using
Scale MP-2019, and the end of year total OPEB liability was based on the Pub-2010 Mortality tables using Scale
MP-2021. - '
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Special Revenue Funds

Community
. Cemetery Development
Local Road ... Drug Forfeitfure  Perpetual Care Block Grant
Assets _ .
Cash and cash equivalents $ 932,070 § .. 3275 % 697,989 $ -
Receivables - Due from other governmental units 59,892 - - 28,511
Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,909 : - - -
Land held for resale - - - -
Total assets $ 996,771 $ 3275 § 697,989 § 28,511
Liabilities S
Accounts payable $ 333,342 % - % 6,625 § -
Due to other funds 45,100 - - 28,511
Accrued liabilities and other 841 - - -
Total liabilities _ 379,283 - 6,625 28,511
Deferred Inflows of Resources - Unavailable
revenue - - - 28,511
Fund Balances (Deficit) -
Nonspendable - 3,909 - - -
Restricted: '
Roads 613,579 - - -
Police ' - 3,275 - -
Cemetery perpetual care - - 691,364 =
Committed: .
Land acquisition - - - -
Equipment replacement - - - -
Unassigned _ - - - {28,511)
Total fund balances {(deficit) 617,488 _ 3,275 691,364 {28,511}
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances (deficit) $ 996,771 $ 3,275 $ 697,989 $ 28,511
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Other Sﬁpplementary Information
- Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
© June 30, 2023

Capital Project Funds

Total Nonmajor

Equipment ' . Governmental
Replacement  Land Acquisition Funds

$ 486,079 $ 79930 § 2,200,243

- - 88.403

- : 3,909

: 53,000 53,000

$ 486,079 $ 132,930 $§ 2,345,555

$ 87221 $ -8 427,188

' ; 73.611

- - 841

87,221 - 501,640

- : 28,511

_ ] 3,009

_ ; 613,579

- - 3.275

- ; 691,364

. 132,030 132,930

308,858 S 398,858

- . (28,511)

398,858 132,930 1,815,404

$ 4860795 132,930 $ 2,345,555
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Special Revenue Funds

Community
_ Cemetery - Development
Local Road Drug Forfeiture Perpetual Care Block Grant
Revenue
Intergovernmental;
Federal grants 3 - § - 8 - % 25,225
State sources - Act 51 gas and weight tax 352,927 - - -
Charges for services - - - -
Investment income - 531 3,472 -
Other revenue - - 43,950 -
Total revenue 352,927 531 47,422 25,225
Expenditures
Current services:
Public safety - 65,855 ' - -
Public works: .
Streets 733,822 - : - -
Stormwater drainage 10,024 - ) “ -
Cemetery - - 48,110 -
Community and economic developmeni - - ' - 28,511
Capital outlay - - 18,718 -
Total expenditures 743,846 65,855 66,828 28,511
Excess of Revenue (Under) Over EXpenditures (390,919) (65,324) (19,406} (3,286)
Other Financing Sources - Transfers in 100,000 - - -
Net Change in Fund Balances (290,919) {65,324) (19,4086} {3,2886)
Fund Balances (Deficit) - Beginning of year 908,407 88,599 710,770 (25,225)
Fund Balances (Deficit) - End of year $ 617,488  § 3,275 §_ 691,364 $ _ (28,511)
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Other Supplementary Informatlon
Combmmg Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Govermental Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Capital Project Funds

Total Nonmajor

" Equipment Governmental
Replacement Land Acquisition Funds
- 8 -8 25,225
- - 352,927
115,825 - 115,825 -
5,852 - 9,855
- 650 44,600
121,677 650 548,432
- - 85,855
- - 733,822
- - 10,024
- - 48,110
- - 28,511
155,139 - 173,857
155,139 .- 1,060,179
(33,462) 650 (511,747)
- - 100,000
(33,462) 650 (411,747)
432,320 132,280 2,227 151
_ 398,_858 $ 132,930 $ 1,815,404
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Community Maintenance

. Public Safety and Developmant
General -
Government Police Fire Ambulance Cemetery  Public Works
Expenditures ' '
Salaries and wages $ . 477,866 $ 1,674,229 §$ 505839 3% - $ 3174 $ 297,170
Salaries and wages - Mechanic - - - - - 51,813
Reimbursement of mechanic wages - - - - - (51,813)
Fringe benefits 241,597 937,130 63,375 - 23,988 220,930
-Uniforms & Cleaning Allowance - 30,395 21,596 - - 7,470
Tuition reimbursement - 3,001 - - - -
Office supplies 3,954 4,003 4,065 - - 828
Operating expenses 7,524 24,753 27,477 - 14,629 . 26,612
Ammunition - 5,255 - - - -
Professional Services . o 467,106 19,458 576 - 7,462 44 248
Contractual Services 133,539 152,228 49,816 - 2,572 24,436
Auditor 40,230 - - - - -
Planning Consultant o 84,085 - - - - -
Elections B 46,409 . - - - - -
Computers : 3,321 - 5435 7.481 - - 305
Legal Fees 61,388 25,658 - - - -
Memberships & Dues ) 13,236 ) 670 3,264 - - 763
Radio Maintenance o - - 129 - - -
Telephone . 16,084 I i 9,914 - - 8,278
Gas & Qil - 22,774 9,677 - 2,779 12,085
Transportation & Mileage 953 - - - - -
Vehicle Maintenance : 15 24,071 32,434 - - 176,850
Community Promotions - 66,172 - 2,284 - - -
Printing 3.671 - - - - -
Publishing 7,454 - - - - -
Insurance & Bonds © 53,49 24,221 25,445 7 639 14,410
Utilities 24,765 18,500 13,005 648 654 21,920
Street Light Expenditures - - - - - 117,065
Repairs & Maintenance - 334 5,670 - 6,202 6,495
Building Maintenance 906 9,239 17,424 - - 100,558
NPDES Phase || Stormwater - - - - - 6,343
Equipment Rental - - - - 4,600 10,200
Hydrant Rental - - - - - -
Education/Training 2,648 18,610 24,288 - - 6,988
Witness fees - - - - - -
Miscellaneous Expense 1,903 - - - - -
Contribution-Solid Waste 22,308 R - - - -
Contribution-Community Schools 3,639 - - - - -
Contribution-Community. Schools - A/V Equipn - — - - - -
Land Improvements - - © 19,880 52,623 - - 41,117
Equipment Miscellaneaus . 2,084 - 4134 9,494 - 2,855 783
Capital Equipment - 47,018 1,500,000 - - -
Principat and Interest Payments - - 534,858 - - -
Total expenditures $ 1,786,439 § 3,088,603 $ 2,920,838 $ 725 $ 98,174 § 1,145,854
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City of South Lyon, Michigan B
| Other Supplementary Information
Schedule of Expenditures — General Fund

June 30, 2023

. Recreation and Culture . . B Total
Parks and Public ' Cultural Cable e
Recreation  Transportation  Historical . Arts Commission 2023 . 2022

$ 79,218 . % - $ 4589 § - $ 669 § 3,071,374 % 2,757,609

- - - C- - 51,813 38,632

- - - - - (51,813) (38,632)

23,582 - - - - 1,510,602 1,367,486

- - - w - 59,461 48,943

- - - - - 3,001 2,235

- - - - - 12,850 11,879

676 - - - - 101,671 129,827

- - - - - 5,255 5412

106,992 - 1,075 - - 646,917 760,040

660 101,584 4,845 250 - 469,930 408,926

- - - - - 40,230 39,054

- - - - - 84,086 67,015

- - - - - 46,409 20,283

- - - - - 16,542 29,601

- - - - - 87,046 87,753

- - - - - 17,933 19,651

- - - - - 129 1,173

- - - - - 51,883 56,014

11,900 - - - - 598,215 68,570

- - - - - 953 802

- - - - - 233,370 183,320

- - - 1,554 - 70,010 52,366

_ - - : - - 3,671 2,190

- - - - - 7,454 9,785

936 - 08 - - 120,131 113,767

590 . 6,697 - - 86,869 80,814

- - - - - 117,065 104,895

9,689 - 5,406 - - 33,796 19,876

- - 8,138 - - 136,265 45,671

- . - - - 8,343 14,997

11,025 - - - - 25,825 25,825
- - - - - - (2,500} -

- - - - - 52,534 34,950

- - - - - - ©)
510 - C - 302 - 2,805 1,514 .

- - ’ - - - 22,308 24,004

- - - - - 3,639 49

- - - - - - 42,632

- - 255 - - 113,875 87,646

1,513 - - - 669 21,532 270,907

13,293 - - - - 1,560,311 100,441

- - - - - 534,858 -
$ 260,584 $ 101,584 $ 31,913 § 2,106 $ 1,338 § 9,438,158 $ 7,095,422
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Other Supplementary Information
~ Schedule of Expenditures by Activity
Major and Local Roads Funds

June 30, 2023

Major Roads Fund

e Drainage
Professional - Strest Street Routine Traffic Snow and
Services Construction - Maintenance Services Plowing Backsloping Total
Wages and salaries $ - 5 - $ 108,380 $ 5320 % 20222 % 3115 § 137,056
Fringe benefits - : - 49,673 2,431 9,815 1,466 63,385
Operating expense - - 1,829 21,523 27,323 19 50,694
Professional services 5,137 11,452 - - - - 16,589
Contractual services - 195 - - - - 195
Traffic signals - : - - 6,324 - - 6,324
Repairs and mainienance - ' - 13,816 - - - 13,816
Equipment charges - - 12,000 - 10,000 . - 22,000

Total expenditures $ 5137 §. 11,647 § 185,708 $ 35,607 § 67,360 $ 4,600 $ 310,059

Local Roads Fund

Drainage
Professional Strest Street Routine Traffic Snow and
Services Construction:  Mainienance Services Plowing Backsloping Total
Wages and salaries 5 - 3 - § 108,061 $ 4898 % 20,146 $ 3116 § 136,221
Fringe benefits - - - 48,340 2177 9,189 1,413 61,119
Operating expense - - 2,034 " 2,619 . 14,934 5,421 25,008
Professional services 5,120 195 - S - - 5,316
Repairs and maintenance - - 23,101 - - 74 23,175
Equipment charges - - 5,000 = 12,000 - 17,000

Total expenditures $ 5120 - $ 476,203 §. 186,536 $ 9694 § 56,269 $ 10,024 § 743,846
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City of South Lyen, Michigan

Other Supplementary Information
Schedule of Operating Expenses
Proprietary Fund — Water and Sewer Fund

June 30, 2023

Activity Activity: - Total
Water Sanitary ’
Distribution Water Wastewater ~ Sewer - Solid Waste
System Repair System Repair . C'olle_ction 2023 2022
Personnel sendces: )
Salaries and wages $ 288467 $ 37561 $ 420,046 $ 41,353 § .- $ 737427 § 732,159
Fringe benefits ) 141,386 11,402 196,304 11,889 : - 360,981 351,782 .
Pension and OPEB liability expense (recovery) 15,682 5,682 15,682 15,682 - 62,728 {45,352)
Total perscnnel senices 395,535 64,645 632,032 68,924 - 1,181,136 1,038,580
Equipment repairs and maintenance;
Equipment maintenance 40,671 31,758 5,280 33,185 - 110,894 105,592
Building maintenance 2,312 - 185,726 - - 188,038 187,626
Total equipment repairs and maintenance 42,983 31,758 191,006 33,185 - 298,932 303,218
Public utilities:
Electric and gas 10,407 - 296,185 - - 306,592 316,878
Telephone 11,040 - 11,226 - - 22,286 4,881
Tatal public utilities 21,447 - 307,411 - - 328,858 321,758
Refuse collection - - - - 588,955 589,055 570,353
Depreciation . 712,533 - 712,533 - - 1,425,066 1,565,008
Other senices and charges - Professional senices : 66,760 51,318 100,454 4,742 - 223,274 381,881
Insurance : 126,391 - 13,889 - - 140,260 133,770
Other 115,822 2,191 121,582 2,323 - 241,918 220,664
Total operating expenses $1,481,471 § 149,912 $2,078,887 $ 109174 $ 589,955 354,409,399 §$4,544,242
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Stat-iStical Section
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City of South Lyon, Michigan |
c Schedule of Taxes Levied, Collected, and
Returned Delinquent — 2022 Roll

June 30, 2023

Returned Percent
Final Lewy Texes Collected Delinguent Collected
Taxable Value: $448,180,470
City of South Lyon $ 6844626 $ 6801425 % 43,201 99.37
Specials 1,898 1,121 777 59.05
Downtown Development Authority 58,907 57,919 988 98.32
Administration fee 119,315 118,376 940 8921
Oakland Community College 663,172 658,975 4,197 99.37
South Lyon Community Schools 4,583,155 4 558,672 34,484 99.25
State education 2,675,745 2,657,907 17,838 99.33
Zoo Authority 42,334 41,425 909 97.85
County Drains 19,422 14,133 5,288 72.77
Art Institute 87,152 85,280 1,872 97.85
Oakland County Parks & Recreation 152,780 149,538 3,242 §7.88
Huron Clinton Metro Park 92,168 90,213 1,856 97.88
Intermediate School District 1,418,850 1,409,809 9,041 99.36
Library - A 672,970 668,692 4,278 99.36
Oakland County Transit 423,083 414,084 © 8:999 97.87
Oakland County 1,767,420 1,756,265 11,155 99.37
Total $ 19,632,997 % 149,165 99.24
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Continuing Disclo_Siire Undertaking

June 30, 2023
A. Taxable Value - Fiscal Yeal_' 2022-2023 - $448,180,470

B. Taxable Value by Use and Class - Fiscal Year 2022-2023

Percent of Percent of
Use .. Texable Value  Taxable Value SEV SEV
Commercial B3 - 36,430,260 880 % 49,820,370 861
Industrial o 6,874,770 1.53 8,007,270 1.38
Residential 391,310,790 87.31 511,112,600 88.20
Comm PP - 3 3,678,650 0.82 6,886,000 1.19
Industrial PP - . 6,886,000 1.54 3,678,650
Total _ $ 448,180,470 100.00 § 679,504,890 100.00
Class
Real property . -8 437,615,820 9764 % 568,940,240 98.18
Personal property 10,564,650 2.36 10,564,650 1.82
Total $ 448,180,470 100.00 $ 579,504,890 100.00

C & D. Property Tax Rates by Governmental Unit - Fiscal Year 2022-2023

City of South Lyon _ - Rate City of South Lyon _ _ Rate

General operation ' 12.3500  Huron Clinton Authority o 0.2070

_ Qakland County . 3.9686

Dekbt Service- Sewer G.0. 3.0000 intermediate schools 3.1658

o Qakland Community College 1.4891

Zoo Authority 0.0945

Oakland County P&R 0.3431

South Lyon Community Schools 18.0000

Art Institute 0.1945

State education 6.0000

South Lyon school debt 7.0000

Total City of South Lyon 15.3500 Total governmental units 57.3237
District library . 1.0466
Library voted ‘ 0.4645
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C|ty of South Lyon, Michigan
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (Continued)

June 30, 2023

E. Property Tax Collections — Fiscal Year 2022-2023 {as of 3/1/2023) — 99.24%
- F. Ten Largest Taxpayers — Fiscal Year 2022-2023

Principal Product

Taxpayer or Senvice Taxable Value

Colonial Acres Phase 5 ' Co-op $ 18,261,750
Colonial Acres Dev Co : Co-op 8,148,210
Brookdale Assn Ltd Partner o Apartments 4,578,820
DTE . Industrial 4,176,210
Roco Brookwood Farms, LLC -~ - Apartments 3,261,760
Consumers Energy Co _ Industrial ' 2,407,120
Loop Waters Edge LLC & Waters. Edg Apartments ' 2,012,050
Ramco Michigan LLC o Apartments : 1,808,810
Roco Brookwood Farms, LLC ' Apartments 1,601,990
Michigan Seamless Tube ; Industrial o 1,125,780

Total : $ 47,382,500

G. Distributable Aid — State-Shared Revenue — Fiscal Year 2022-2023 - $1,352,998
H. Legal Debt Margin

Purs_uént to the statutory and constitutional debt provisions set forth herein, the following table reflects the
amount of additional debt the City may legally incur as of June 30, 2023:

Debt limit (1) $ 57,850,000

Debt outstanding _ : $ 13,059,292
Less exempt debt o 3,147 379 9,911,913
Legal debt margin o $ 48,038,087

(1) 10 percent of $579,504,‘890, which is the City’s SEV for the fiscal ye'ér ended June 30, 2023. See
“Property Valuations” herein.

Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan and the City of South Lyon
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (Continued)

June 30, 2023 -
Debt Statement
The following table reflects a breakdown of the C'ify's direct debt as of June 30, 2023.
To the extent necessary, the City may levy taxes on all taxable property within its boundaries without limitation as

to rate or amount to pay the principal of and interest due on the bonds in the following table, which are designated
aS IIUT-II N )

City Direct Debt Gross Self-supporting Net

State Revolving Fund Loan: _
Dated March 27, 2003 (UT) $ 3,147,379 § 3,147,379 § -

Installment Purchase Obligations: o
2021 Ladder Truck 766,913 - 766,913

General Obligation Bonds: .
2023 Unlimited Tax General Obligation Bond 7,525,000 - 7,525,000 -

Revenue Bonds - 2012 Drinking Water '
Revolving Fund 1,620,000 - . 1,620,000

Total $ 13,059,292 '$ 347,379 § 9,911,913
Fer capita net City direct debt (1) ' - | $ 875.07
Percent of net direct debt to SEV (2) o 1.71%

(1) Based on the City's 2020 census population of 11,327

{2) Based on $573,504,890, which is the City’é SEV for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. See “Property
Valuations” herein. '
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City of South Lyon, Michigan

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (Continued)

June 30, 2023
City's Share as

_ - Percent of
Owerlapping Debt (3) Gross - Gross Net
South Lyon Schools $ 178,470,000 15.27% § 27,252,360
Oakland County ' 181,894,707 0.65% 1,182,316
Oakland Intermediate School District 39,675,000 0.65% 257,888
Total $ 400,039,707 $ 28,692,573

Per capita net overlapping debt (1) (3)
Percent of ne'; overlapping debt to SEV (2)

Per capita net direct and overlapping debt (1)
Percent of net direct and overlapping debt to SEV (2)

(1) Based on the City's 2020 Census population of 11,327

3 2,533.11
4.95%
3 3,408.18
8.66%

(2) Based on $579,504,890, which is the City's SEV for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. See “Property

Valuations™ herein.

(3) Qverlapping debt is the portion of another taxing unit’s debt for which property taxpayers of the City are liable

in addition to debt issued by the City
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) Piante & Moran, PLLC

p 1 ant 6 ' : 1098 Woodward Avenue
7 : B Detrolt, M| 48226-1906

: Z Tel::313.498,7200

mor an g o Fax: 313.495,7201

) plantematan,cotry

September 13, 2023

To the Mayor and Members of the City Council
City of South Lyon, Michigan

We have audited the financial statements of the City of South Lyon, Michigan (the “City") as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2023 and have issued our report thereon dated September 13, 2023. Professional
standards require that we provide you with the following :nformatlon related to our audlt which is divided
inta the following sections:

Section | - Required- Communications with Those Charged with Govemance. This section includes
information that current auditing standards require independent auditors to communicate to those
individuals charged with governance. We will report this information annually to the mayor and the City
Council of the City of South Lyon, Michigan.

Section il - Other Recommendations and Related Information. ThIS section presents recommendations
related to certain internal control matters, city processes and procedures, and other matters noted during
our current year audit. These comments, including State of Michigan legislative updates, are offered in the
interest of helping the City in its efforts toward continuous improvement, not just in the areas of internal
control and accounting procedures, but also in operational or administrative efficiency and effectiveness.

We would I|ke to take this opportunity to thank the City’s staff for the cooperation and courtesy extended to
us during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism are invaluable.

This report is intended solely for the use of the mayor, the City Council, and management of the City of
South Lyon, Michigan and is not intended to be and should not be used:by anyone other than these
specified parties.

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following commuhi'cati'ons, and we would be willing
to discuss these or any other questions that you might have at your co_n'venience.

Very truly yours,
Plante & Moran, PLLC

Timothy St. Andrew

Spencer Tawa

DPRAXITY

N Eripowering Buslngss Globally



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance

Qur Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 8, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City. Such considerations were solely for the
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal
control.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are
not required to design proceduras specifically to identify such matters.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
letter about planning matters dated August 10, 2023.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1
to the financial statements.

No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was not changed during
2023.

We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

There are no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different
period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected.

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements are the assumptions used by the City to
estimate of the unbilled Water and Sewer Fund utility receivables, the various estimates utilized related to
the City's use of and inclusion in the Michigan Municipa! Employees’ Retirement System (MERS) defined
benefit pension plan, and the estimated fiability related to the other postemployment benefit (OPEB) (retiree
health care). For the utility billing, management's estimates and assumptions are based on actual previous
similar calendar period utility billings. For the pension plan, estimates and assumptions are determined by
MERS and its actuary based on the City's negotiations with its bargaining units and resolutions of the City
Council. For retiree health care, the estimates and assumptions are determined by the actuary in
conjunction with city management and established City Council resolutions. We evaluated the key factors
and assumptions used fo develop the various estimates in determining that they are reasonable in relation
to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
{Continued)

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in performing and completing our audit.
Disagreements with Management

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant
to the financial statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.
Management has corrected all such misstatements.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, business conditions affecting the City, and business plans and strategies that may affect the
risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the City's auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and our
responses were not a condition of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated September 13, 2023,

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountanis

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of
an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant
to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were
no such consultations with other accountants.

Other Information Included in Annual Reports

Our responsibility for other information included in annual reports does not extend beyond the financial
statements, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on the other information. However,
we read the stafistical section, and nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such
information, or its manner of presentation, is materially misstated or materially inconsistent with the
information or manner of its presentation appearing in the financial statements.



Section Il - Other Recommendations and Related Information

We commend the City for considering and implementing a number of previously communicated
improvement suggestions from prior audit engagements. We also understand that not all recommendations

can be fully adopted due to the City's smaller office staff limitations. During this year's audit, we noted aréas

where we believe there are opportunities for the City to further strengthen internal control or to improve
operating results and/or efficiencies. Our observations on those areas are presented below for your
con5|derat|on ‘ .

. Customer Deposits Payable - The City's general ledger asset and liability account balances are
composed of an accumulation of numerous transactions taking place over a period of time. At any one
point in time, the City should be able to reconcile the balances in these accounts to a detailed list. For

. the customer deposits payable account, this reconciliation was not able to be completed. The City is
. working with its software vendor to be able to produce reports necessary to perform a detailed
reconciliation on the customer deposits payable account.

- » Equipment and Other Interfund Charges - The City allocates equipment rental charges from the

"~ Eguipment Replacement Fund to some of the other city funds. These charges have been the same
amount for the past several years. In addition, the services provided by employees that are traditionally
charged to the General Fund, like treasury, finance, HR, etc., oftentimes S|gn1ﬂcantly benefit-other
funds. As aresult, it is a fairly common practice to allocate a pomon of these costs via an administrative
charge to other funds of the: government. The City should perform. an analysis fo determine if the
amount allocated to each fund is still reasonable. It is our understanding that this analysis is currently
underway with direct involvement by accounting, department heads, and the city manager.

COVID-19 Resource Center and ARPA

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, Plante & Moran, PLLC's COVID-19 task force of leaders across
the firm has monitored, addressed, and provided insight related to the virus and the unique challenges
our local governments have faced while continuing to provide essential services to their communities
through our ARPA and COVID-19 resource center for governments. Following is a link to various ARPA-
related articles that we believe will be of interest to you: hitps://www.plantemoran.com/explors-our-
thinking/search ?skip=10&keyword=arpa&type=all&professional=all&practice=all&industry=85a5dfa7 -
9c41-4000-86d3-db25835731a6&areaOfFocus=all&daterange=all&sortBy=DateDesc.

In March 2021, the president signed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) into law, which included federal
stimulus fundmg for state and local governments of all sizes. The largest of all funding streams, the
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) represents a $350 billion top-line allocation
for state and local governments. Funding was provided in two tranches beginning in May 2021, with the
second tranche not being released until 12 months after the first payment. Effective April 1, 2022, the U.S.
Department of the Treasury published the final rule for determining the types of programs and services that
are eligible uses of the SLFRF funding. Overall information about the program, including a frequently asked
questions document and an overview of the final rule, is available on the U.S. Department of the

Treasury's website at hitps./fhome treasury. govlgollcy-lssues/corona\nruslassmtance—for—state local-and-
tribal-governments. S

The ARPA award terms provide that payments from the Fiscal Recovery Funds as a general matter wifl be
subject to the provision of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the “Uniform Guidance”),
including the cost principles and restrictions -on general provisions for selected items of cost. The City will
need to understand these reforms and may be required to evaluate, document, and monitor internal
procedures around compliance, including maintaining certain required policies.

Plante & Moran, PLLC's COVID-19 resource center is being continuously updated for the latest guidance
and strategy related to SLFRF and will help keep the City running smoothly through our nation's recovery.

Want to receive relevant content directly to your smail? Subscribe at https://www.plantemoran.com/
. subscribe where you can customize your subscription preferences based on your specific interests and
industry selection.



Section Il - Other Recommendatib_ns and Related Information
{Continued)

Michigan’s COVID-19 Updates and Related Grant PrOgrams

The Michigan Department of Treasury has developed a webpage with numbered letters, memorandums,
webinars, and resources regarding COVID-19 updates and related grant programs: https:/Avww.
michigan.gov/treasury/0,4679.7-121-1751_98769---.00.htl.

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal ReCov‘erv Funds Alternative Compliance Examination

In April 2022, the Office of Management and Budget amended its compliance rules to allow for a simplified
single audit process for municipalities that would not be required to undergo a single audit if it were not for
the expenditures of SLFRF. This alternative applies to fiscal year audits beginning after June 30, 2020.
SLFREF recipients that expend $750,000 or mare during their fiscal years and meet the following two criteria
have the option for their auditor to follow the alternative compliance examination engagement guidance:

1. The recipient's total SLFRF award reée'i\'fed directly from the U.S. Department of the Treasury or
received as a nonentitiement unit is $10 million or less.

2. Other federal award funds expended by the recipient (excluding SLFRF award funds) are less than
$750,000 during its fiscal year.

We are happy to assist in evaluating the application of the changes and answer any questions about how
the changes impact the C|ty

Monitoring Lease Actwltv

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, was effective in fiscal year 2022. Although significant analyses were
performed to determine the applicability of the new standard and record any necessary adjustments, we
want to stress the importance of implementing ongoing monitoring procedures over lease activity. When
the City enters into new leases, existing leases are modified,. or other facts and circumstances change,
consideration must be given to the impact those changes will have on lease accounting. In order to do 30,
the City must ensure there is a process in place to identify and appropriately account for new leases or
changes to existing leases on an ohgoing basis or least at the end of each year.

Cybersecurity and Information Technoloqv Cdntrols

Cyberattacks are on the rise across the globe and the cost of these attacks is ever increasing. Because of
these attacks, municipalities stand to lose their reputation, the ability to operate efficiently, and proprietary
information or assets. Communities potentially can also be subject to financial and legal liabilities. Managing
this issue ‘is especially challenging because even a municipality with a highly mature cybersecurity risk
management program still has a residual risk that a material cybersecurity breach could occur and not be
detected in a timely manner. We understand that the technology departmient continues to monitor and
evaluate this risk, which are critical best practices. Additionally, periodic assessments of the system in order
to verify that the control environmentis working as intended are key parts of measuring associated business
risk. We encourage administration and those charged with governance to work with the technology team
on this very |mportant topic. If we can be of assistance in the process, we would be happy to do so.

Federgl-Procurement Threshold Changes

The Office of Management and Budget has issued significant reforms to the compliance requirements that
must be followed by nonfederal entities. The Office’ of Management and Budget recently issued
Memorandum M-18-18, which provides guidance on changes fo micropurchases and simplified acquisition
threshold requirements. The key changes are as follows:

¢ Threshold for micropurchases is increased to $10,000.
« - Threshold for SImpllﬂed acquisitions {(small purchase procedures limit) increased to $250 000.



Section Il - Other Recommendations and Related Information
(Continued)

Key adoption considerations for micropurchase and simplified acquisition thresholds include the following:

» During the original adoption of the Uniform Guidance procurement standards, were specific amounts
included within the City’s procurement policy, or were references to the Uniform Guidance sections or
amounts as adjusted referenced? If specific amounts were referenced, the procurement policy will need
to be updated fo take advantage of the changes.

+ [fthe City’s procurement policy was written to allow for changes in amounts, the procedures will need
to be updated to conform. Do

e If this change is inconsistent with other procurement policies within the organization, the City must
decide how the pollcy will be enacted. Remember local ordinances in place may limit fuII utlllzatton of
changes. - -

s Ifthe City has chosen not to fully adopt the change and maintain a lower threshold, then the City is not
required fo use these thresholds but cannot exceed them.

Upcoming Accoun mq Standards Requiring Preparation

We actively monltor new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards and due process
documents and prowde periodic updates to help you understand how the latest. financial reporting
developments will impact the City. In addition to the summaries below and to stay up to date, Plante &
Moran, PLLC issues a biannual GASB accounting standard update. The most recent spring 2023 update
and a link to previous fall and spring updates are available here.

GASB Statement No. 101 - Compenseted Absences

This new accounting pronouncement will be effective for fiscal years ending December 31, 2024 and after.
This statement updates the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences under a
unified model, requiring that liabilities for compensated absences be recoghized for leave that has not been
used and Ieave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. This
statement also establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used and updates
disclosure requirements for compensated absences.



